
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION AGENDA
Tuesday, January 16, 2024 - 4:00 PM

Council Chambers - 169 SW Coast Highway, Newport , Oregon 97365 

All public meetings of the City of Newport will be held in the City Council Chambers of the
Newport City Hall, 169 SW Coast Highway, Newport. The meeting location is accessible to
persons with disabilities. A request for an interpreter, or for other accommodations, should be
made at least 48 hours in advance of the meeting to Erik Glover, City Recorder at
541.574.0613, or e.glover@newportoregon.gov.

All meetings are live-streamed at https://newportoregon.gov, and broadcast on Charter Channel
190. Anyone wishing to provide written public comment should send the comment to
publiccomment@newportoregon.gov. Public comment must be received four hours prior to a
scheduled meeting. For example, if a meeting is to be held at 3:00 P.M., the deadline to submit
written comment is 11:00 A.M. If a meeting is scheduled to occur before noon, the written
comment must be submitted by 5:00 P.M. the previous day.
To provide virtual public comment during a city meeting, a request must be made to the meeting
staff at least 24 hours prior to the start of the meeting. This provision applies only to public
comment and presenters outside the area and/or unable to physically attend an in person
meeting.

The agenda may be amended during the meeting to add or delete items, change the order of
agenda items, or discuss any other business deemed necessary at the time of the meeting.

1.  CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL

2.  DISCUSSION ITEMS

2.A City Manager's Report  

1

mailto:e.glover@newportoregon.gov
https://newportoregon.gov/


City Manager's Report 

2.B Oceanview Drive Operat ions and Safety Assessment.
Newport Oceanview Drive Assessment Memo.pdf
City Council Presentation by Kittelson.pdf

2.C Transient Room Tax Collect ion and Audit ing by the State of  Oregon.
LLX Administration.pdf
Local Lodging Administration User Guide.pdf

3.  ADJOURNMENT

2

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2382570/1.16.24_Work_Session.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2381712/Newport_Oceanview_Drive_Assessment_Memo_-_Final_DRAFT_2.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2388151/City_Council_Presentation_by_Kittelson.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2382224/LLX_Administration.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2382225/Local_Lodging_Administration_User_Guide.pdf


 

 

   

Spencer R. Nebel 
City Manager 
CITY OF NEWPORT 
169 S.W. Coast Hwy. 
Newport, OR  97365 
s.nebel@newportoregon.gov 

 
 

 
DATE:  January 16, 2024 
 
TO:  City Council 
 
FROM: Spencer Nebel, City Manager 
 
RE: Work Session and Urban Renewal meetings for Tuesday, January 16, 2024 

at 4 PM 

Council will hold a work session at 4 PM on Tuesday, January 16 with an Urban 
Renewal meeting following at 4:45 PM.  This will be followed by a regular City Council 
meeting at 6 PM. During the Urban Renewal meeting, there are two public hearings that 
are scheduled for 5:15 PM. Two non-public items will be considered prior to those items. 
 
Schedule for Meetings for Tuesday, January 16, 2024 
 
1.) City Council Work Session at 4 PM 
 4:00 PM Update om Oceanview Drive Traffic Study (30 minutes)   
  4:30 PM Discussion on Transient Room Tax Collection/Auditing by the State (15 

 minutes) 
2.) Urban Renewal Meeting at 4:45 PM  
  4:45 PM Discussion on URA Projects (20 minutes)  
  5:05 PM Discussion on Request from South Beach Church (10 minutes) 
  5:15 Public Hearing on Re-development Agreement for South Beach (10 minutes) 
  5:25 PM Public Hearing on Supplemental Budget (5 minutes) 
3.)  Regular City Council meeting at 6:00 PM 
 

Oceanview Drive Operations and Safety Assessment  
(30 minutes) 

 
Matt Hughart of Kittleson and Associates will be present to discuss their findings on 
conducting an operations and safety assessment of Oceanview Drive. This is in response 
to concerns over increase traffic volumes and traffic speeds that have been conveyed by 
the City to the consultants. Kittleson and Associates will get additional input from the City 
Council on this study prior to finalizing their report to the City.  
 

Transient Room Tax Collection and Auditing by the State of Oregon  (15 minutes) 
City staff participated in a presentation by the Department of Treasury on the State’s 
collection of transient room tax for local units of government. There are number of issues 
that we discussed with the State on this matter. We would like to discuss this with the City 

3

mailto:s.nebel@newportoregon.gov


 

 

Council to get additional feedback prior to making a recommendation on our future 
direction tax collection. 

 
Following the adjournment of the work session at 4:45 PM, Council will hold an Urban 
Renewal meeting with the regular City Council meeting beginning at 6 PM. 
 
Respectfully submitted,  

 
 

Spencer R. Nebel 
City Manager 

4



 

Kittelson & Associates, Inc.    

Technical Memorandum  

January 11, 2024 Project# 28305 

To:  City of Newport, OR 

From: Matt Hughart, AICP, Phill Worth, Fred Wismer, P.E., and Sutapa Banerjee 

RE: Newport, OR Oceanview Drive Operations and Safety Assessment – REVIEW DRAFT  

CONTENTS 

Contents .................................................................................................................................................................... 1 

Overview ................................................................................................................................................................... 1 

Corridor Traffic Counts ............................................................................................................................................. 4 

Crash Data Assessment ........................................................................................................................................... 4 

Intersection Sight Distance Assessment ................................................................................................................. 7 

NW Oceanview Drive/NW 15th Street All-Way Stop Assessment ......................................................................... 7 

NW Oceanview drive speeds ................................................................................................................................. 9 

Agate Beach Crossing Assessment ...................................................................................................................... 12 

Appendices ............................................................................................................................................................ 14 

 

OVERVIEW  

In response to concerns over increased traffic volumes and travel speeds, Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

performed a preliminary transportation assessment of the NW Oceanview Drive corridor from NW 15th Street 

to just past the Agate Beach State Wayside parking lot (see Figure 1). The purpose of the assessment was to 

investigate issues of concern identified by the City of Newport (City) at key intersections along the corridor 

and provide independently objective perspectives on if and how these issues could be addressed.  

851 SW 6th Avenue, Suite 600 

Portland, OR 97204 

P 503.228.5230  

5



January 11, 2024 Page 2 

Newport Oceanview Drive Assessment    

Kittelson & Associates, Inc.    

Study Area Characteristics 

As shown in Figure 1, NW Oceanview Drive is a continuous north-south travel route located west of US 101. 

As such, it experiences higher traffic volumes and more through traffic than surrounding roadways, and is 

sometimes used as an alternative to US 101. The corridor as a whole is largely unimproved from a 

multimodal perspective, has narrow and windy sections, has cross street intersections with sight distance 

limitations, and has variable travel speed characteristics. A summary of the corridor’s key infrastructure 

characteristics is summarized in Table 1. 

Figure 1. NW Oceanview Drive Study Corridor and Key Intersections 

 

  

6



January 11, 2024 Page 3 

Newport Oceanview Drive Assessment    

Kittelson & Associates, Inc.    

Table 1 – NW Oceanview Drive Study Corridor Travel Way Characteristics 

NW Oceanview 

Drive Corridor 

Segment 

Functional Classification/ 

Designation 

Number 

of 

Travel 

Lanes 

Travel 

Way 

Width Sidewalks 

Bicycle 

Lanes 

Posted 

Speed 

Agate Beach State 

Wayside Driveway  

to 

NW 25th Street 

-Neighborhood Collector 

-Major Bicycle Corridor 

-Major Pedestrian Corridor 

2 20’± None 

Shared 

Lane 

Markings 

35 

NW 25th Street  

to 

NW Edenview Way 

-Neighborhood Collector 

-Major Bicycle Corridor 

-Major Pedestrian Corridor 

2 20’± None 

Shared 

Lane 

Markings 

35 

NW Edenview Way 

to 

NW 22nd Street 

-Neighborhood Collector 

-Major Bicycle Corridor 

-Major Pedestrian Corridor 

2 20’± None 

Shared 

Lane 

Markings 

25 

NW 22nd Street  

to  

NW 17th Street 

-Neighborhood Collector 

-Major Bicycle Corridor 

-Major Pedestrian Corridor 

2 20’± None 

Shared 

Lane 

Markings 

25 

NW 17th Street  

to  

NW 15th Street 

-Neighborhood Collector 

-Neighborhood Bicycle 

Corridor 

-Local Pedestrian Street 

2 20’± None 

Shared 

Lane 

Markings 

25 

 

As noted in Table 1, the entire NW Oceanview Drive corridor is classified as a Neighborhood Collector in the 

City of Newport’s Transportation System Plan (TSP). From just north of the NW 17th Street intersection, the 

corridor has a Major Bicycle Corridor and a Major Pedestrian Corridor overlay classification. South of NW 

17th Street, the corridor has the lower order overlay classification of a Neighborhood Bicycle Corridor and 

Local Pedestrian Street. 

The travel way width is approximately 20 feet (one 10’ travel lane in each direction) along the entire 

corridor. There are no segments with sidewalks or bicycle lanes, however the entire roadway corridor has 

shared-lane markings for cyclists. For comparative reference, Exhibit 1 includes the standard cross section 

for the ideal Neighborhood Collector roadway. 

Exhibit 1 – Newport Neighborhood Collector Cross-Section Standard (Source: Newport TSP) 

  

7



January 11, 2024 Page 4 

Newport Oceanview Drive Assessment    

Kittelson & Associates, Inc.    

CORRIDOR TRAFFIC COUNTS 

To help inform the transportation assessment, vehicular traffic volumes were collected at points along the 

study corridor in March 2023 (during the week of Spring Break) and July 2023 (during the peak summer 

season). These time periods were selected in consultation with City staff to ensure the counts were able to 

capture the unique peaking characteristics that Newport experiences during the busier vacation/travel 

periods. A comparison of the two sets of traffic counts is summarized below. 

Traffic Volumes Comparison (March vs July counts) 

March/April Counts: Daily profile counts were collected at the north and south ends of the NW Oceanview 

Drive corridor on Thursday and Friday, 3/30 & 3/31 (weekdays) and Saturday, 4/1 (weekend). This period 

coincided with Oregon’s public school system Spring Break week. 

July Counts: Similar to the March/April 2023 counts, daily profile counts were collected at the north and 

south ends of the NW Oceanview Drive corridor on Thursday and Friday, 7/20 & 7/21 (weekdays) and 

Saturday, 7/22 (weekend). This period was selected as it coincides with Newport’s peak summer travel and 

visitor season. 

Comparison: A comparison of the traffic counts found that the July 2023 counts were on average 

approximately 10%-15% higher than the March/April counts. A graphical summary of these count 

comparisons is included in Appendix A along with the detailed count sheets. For the purposes of this 

assessment, the July 2023 counts were subsequently used to inform the transportation assessment outlined 

in the following sections. 

CRASH DATA ASSESSMENT 

Intersection and corridor crash histories were obtained and reviewed in an effort to document and identify 

the existence of crash patterns along the NW Oceanview Drive study corridor. Crash records, maintained 

by the Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT), were obtained for the most recent five-year period 

from January 1, 2017, through December 31, 2021. This database includes a history of reported crash types, 

crash severity, time of day, weather conditions, and other related factors. Appendix B includes the ODOT 

crash report summary sheets. 

A total of nine crashes on the study corridor were reported during the five-year period. To visualize the 

reported crashes along the study corridor, Figure 2 provides a mapped summary of the crashes while 

Tables 2 provides more detailed summary information. 

Table 2. NW Oceanview Drive Reported Five-Year Crash Type Summary 

 

Crash Types Crash Severity 
 

 

Total 

Rear-

End 

Side-

Swipe 

Angle/ 

Turning 

Fixed 

Object Other PDO Injury Fatal Unknown 

NW Oceanview Dr 1 1 2 3 2 5 4 0 0 9 

PDO = Property Damage Only 

8



January 11, 2024 Page 5 

Newport Oceanview Drive Assessment    

Kittelson & Associates, Inc.    

Figure 2 – Oceanview Drive Reported Five-Year Crash Location Map 

 

Table 3. Study Corridor Reported Five-Year Crash Details 

 Intersection 

Distance 

from 

Intersection Severity Crash Type Year Month 

Weather 

Condition 

a 

Oceanview Dr & 

Agate Beach 

Access Rd 

200 ft from 

intersection 

Non-fatal 

injury crash 
Pedestrian 2017 January Cloudy 

b 
Oceanview Dr & 

NW 21st St 

180 ft from 

intersection 

Property 

damage only 

crash (PDO) 

Sideswipe-

overtaking 
2017 May Clear 

c 

Oceanview Dr & 

Agate Beach 

Access Rd 

At intersection 
Non-fatal 

injury crash 

Overturned 

motorcycle 
2018 April Clear 

d 
Oceanview Dr & 

NW 15th St 
At intersection 

Property 

damage only 

crash (PDO) 

Angle 2019 November Clear 

e 
Oceanview Dr & 

NW 25th St 

220 ft from 

intersection 

Non-fatal 

injury crash 

Fixed-Object or 

Other-Object 
2020 November Clear 

9



January 11, 2024 Page 6 

Newport Oceanview Drive Assessment    

Kittelson & Associates, Inc.    

 Intersection 

Distance 

from 

Intersection Severity Crash Type Year Month 

Weather 

Condition 

f 
Oceanview Dr & 

NW 19th St 
At intersection 

Non-fatal 

injury crash 

Fixed-Object or 

Other-Object 
2020 December Rain 

g 
Oceanview Dr & 

NW 21st St 

40 ft from 

intersection 

Property 

damage only 

crash (PDO) 

Fixed-Object or 

Other-Object 
2020 June Rain 

h 
Oceanview Dr & 

NW 22nd St 
At intersection 

Property 

damage only 

crash (PDO) 

Turning 

Movement 
2021 February Rain 

i 
Oceanview Dr & 

NW 19th St 

70 ft from 

intersection 

Property 

damage only 

crash (PDO) 

Rear-End 2021 September Clear 

 

Based on the information in Figure 2 and Tables 2 and 3, a summary of the crash data is outlined below. 

◼ Fixed object crashes were the most common crash types, comprising approximately 33 percent of the 

total reported crashes. 

◼ There was one reported pedestrian-related crash and no bicycle related crashes. The pedestrian-

related crash occurred approximately 200 feet south of the Agate Beach pedestrian crossing. The 

driver was cited for careless driving while the pedestrian experienced minor injuries. Based on the 

location, it does not appear that this pedestrian crash occurred at the signed/striped Agate Beach 

crossing. 

◼ Approximately 56 percent of the reported crashes were property damage only (PDO) and 

approximately 44 percent of the crashes involved a minor injury. There were no reported fatalities. 

◼ Two of the reported crashes were related to alcohol intoxication and two involved vehicles traveling 

at excessive speeds. 

◼ The majority of reported crashes (more than 50 percent) occurred during the afternoon hours 

between 12:00 PM and 6:00 PM. 

◼ Forty-four percent of reported crashes (4) occurred during rainy/cloudy conditions. The rest of the 

crashes occurred during dry conditions. 

◼ Only two reported crashes involved angle or turning movements to/from cross streets. One of these 

crashes occurred at the NW Oceanview Drive/NW 15th Street intersection where a westbound vehicle 

on NW 15th Street attempted to cross NW Oceanview Drive. In this instance, the driver made an illegal 

maneuver and ignored the one-way nature of NW 15th Street. The other crash occurred at the NW 

Oceanview Drive/NW 22nd Street intersection and involved an eastbound left-turn maneuver. See the 

following sight distance assessment section for additional information. 

Crash Data Findings and Next Steps 

The low number and dispersed nature of crashes over this five-year period limits the ability to discern any 

underlying causes that may benefit from potential mitigation measures. This review of the reported crash 

data found no predominate crash location, type, time period, or consistency in the directionality of the 

movements involved in the crashes to determine a need for specific safety-based mitigation measures. 

However, as noted in subsequent sections of this report, several potential mitigation measures are identified 

for consideration by the City that could address sight distance limitations and concerns for motor vehicle 

speeds and pedestrian/bicycle exposure on the corridor. 

  

10



January 11, 2024 Page 7 

Newport Oceanview Drive Assessment    

Kittelson & Associates, Inc.    

INTERSECTION SIGHT DISTANCE ASSESSMENT 

Intersection sight distance was assessed at specific intersections requested by the City, along the NW 

Oceanview Drive study corridor. Based on this assessment, sight distance limitations were found at the 

following locations: 

◼ NW Oceanview Drive/NW 15th Street 

– The westbound NW 15th Street approach to NW Oceanview Drive has sight distance limitations 

(looking to the north) primarily due to vegetation that exists along the east side of the roadway 

north of the intersection. Removal or trimming of shrubs and trees could mitigate this condition. 

Sight distance looking south would also benefit from removal or trimming of shrubs and trees on 

the east side of the roadway. 

◼ NW Oceanview Drive/NW 16th Street 

– The westbound NW 16th Street approach to NW Oceanview Drive has sight distance limitations 

(looking to the north) due to vegetation that exists along the east side of the roadway and due to 

the horizontal curvature of NW Oceanview Drive. Removal or trimming of shrubs and trees could 

mitigate this condition.  

◼ NW Oceanview Drive/NW 17th Street 

– The westbound NW 17th Street approach to NW Oceanview Drive has sight distance limitations 

(looking to the south) due to vegetation that exists on the south side of the roadway and due to 

the horizontal curvature of NW Oceanview Drive. Removal or trimming of shrubs and trees could 

mitigate this condition.  

◼ NW Oceanview Drive/NW 22nd Street 

– The westbound NW 22nd Street approach to NW Oceanview Drive has sight distance limitations 

(looking to the south and north) due to vegetation that exists along the east side of the roadway 

and the vertical curvature of NW Oceanview Drive. The eastbound NW 22nd Street approach to 

NW Oceanview Drive also has sight distance limitations (looking to the south) due to vegetation 

on the west side of the roadway. Removal or trimming of shrubs and trees could mitigate this 

condition.  

Sight Distance Next Steps 

To address the noted sight distance limitations, the City may choose to remove or trim back any vegetation 

impediments growing in the public right of way. The City may also choose to inspect and provide notice to 

adjacent landowners that have vegetation growing on their properties that contribute to the sight distance 

limitations.  

NW OCEANVIEW DRIVE/NW 15TH STREET ALL-WAY 

STOP ASSESSMENT 

At the request of City staff, the following section summarizes all-way stop criteria contained within the 

Manual for Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) with a specific assessment of those criteria at the 

Oceanview Drive/NW 15th Avenue intersection. 

The 11th Edition of the MUTCD includes guidance on all-way stop control, including criteria to consider for 

all-way stop installation. The criteria includes minimum volume thresholds of 300 units (combined vehicle, 

11



January 11, 2024 Page 8 

Newport Oceanview Drive Assessment    

Kittelson & Associates, Inc.    

pedestrian, and bicycle movements) per hour on the major road approaches and 200 units per hour on 

the minor road approaches.  

The MUTCD also includes a crash-based experience factor for all-way stop, based on “five or more 

reported crashes in a 12-month period” or “six or more reported crashes in a 36-month period that are of a 

type susceptible to correction by all-way stop installation”.  

Crash Experience Factor 

As previously summarized, there were no reported crashes at the NW Oceanview Drive/NW 15th Street 

intersection within the past 36 months that would be correctable by all-way stop control. Based on this 

finding, the crash component of the criteria is not met. 

Sight Distance Factor 

The westbound NW 15th Street approach to NW Oceanview Drive has sight distance limitations, but these 

limitations are due to vegetation that exists along the east side of the roadway north of the intersection. 

Removal or trimming of shrubs and trees could mitigate this condition. Given the sight distance limitations 

are correctable through vegetation removal, this factor is not applicable. 

8-Hour Volume Factor 

Volume counts (including vehicles, pedestrian, and bicyclists) were collected on the north, south, and west 

legs of the NW Oceanview Drive/NW 15th Street intersection as previously outlined in this report. An average 

of the weekday counts for each approach was used for the assessment.  

The peak hourly volume on NW Oceanview Drive (major roadway) and NW 15th Street (minor roadway) 

was 256 units per hour and 64 units per hour, respectively.  

Based on these measurements, the major road (NW Oceanview Drive) approach volumes did not exceed 

300 units per hour for any one-hour period and the combined approach volumes on the minor road (NW 

15th Street) did not exceed 200 units per hour for any one hour period. As such, the volume-based factor for 

all-way stop criteria were not met at this intersection. A summary of the volume-based all-way stop criteria 

assessment is provided in Appendix C. 

All-Way Stop Control Findings and Next Steps 

Based on data summarized within this memorandum, MUTCD all-way stop crash, sight distance, and 

volume factors are not currently met at the NW Oceanview Drive/NW 15th Street intersection. Trimming or 

removal of vegetation that limits sight distance should be investigated and implemented, where possible. 

The City should continue to monitor this location in the future if conditions change.   

  

12



January 11, 2024 Page 9 

Newport Oceanview Drive Assessment    

Kittelson & Associates, Inc.    

NW OCEANVIEW DRIVE SPEEDS 

At the request of City staff, travel speeds and conditions along the NW Oceanview Drive study corridor 

were assessed due to community concerns that the northern half of the corridor should have a lower 

posted travel speed. As noted in Table 1, the northern half of the corridor (from US 101 to NW Edenview 

Way has a posted speed of 35 mph. South of this point, the posted speed is 25 mph. While no historical 

documentation of the rationale for these posted speeds has been reviewed, existing conditions suggest 

that these different posted speeds are reflective of the character of the corridor due to alignment, 

adjacent land use, frequency of driveways, and topography. 

Compared to the southern half of the study corridor, the northern segment has less severe changes in 

vertical profile, longer straightaway sections with fewer curves, fewer public street intersections and private 

driveways, a more rural character with stretches that traverse the Agate Beach State Recreational Park, 

and wooded hillsides that buffer most of the adjacent residential land uses. Characteristics like these give 

drivers a greater level of comfort which can then lead to higher travel speeds. This is confirmed in a 2022 

speed study conducted by the Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT). In this study, speed counts 

were collected on NW Oceanview Drive in the vicinity of the Agate Beach State Wayside access where it 

was found that the 85th percentile speeds1 were approximately 39 mph in this 35 mph zone. Given these 

findings and concerns expressed by city leadership, an assessment of potential speed reduction mitigation 

measures was prepared including a discussion of simply changing the posted speed limit. These speed 

reductions measures are discussed below. 

Reduction of the Posted Speed Limit 

It is a common misnomer that simply changing the posted speed limit on a roadway will result in a 

reduction of vehicular travel speeds (see footnote2 below for a discussion of one particular speed 

modification provision that is available to cities in certain circumstances and its applicability to NW 

Oceanview Drive). As noted above, vehicular travel speeds are generally more a product of the 

characteristics of the roadway (rural vs. urban, frequency of conflict points at driveways, topography and 

curvature, width of the travel lane, etc.) and the comfort levels it provides to drivers. As such, posted 

speeds are generally designated/confirmed based on a careful engineering study that factors in these 

characteristics as well as a review of measured travel speeds. Although the measured 85th percentile travel 

speed of 39 mph is higher than the 35 mph posted speed, the findings do confirm that a 35 mph posted 

speed is consistent with actual driver behavior. However, these findings also suggest that some speed 

reduction measures on this segment of the corridor may be appropriate, particularly considering the 

presence of the Agate Beach pedestrian crossing. Some potential context sensitive measures that could 

be implemented to passively change driver behavior along the northern segment of NW Oceanview Drive 

are outlined below.  

 
1 The 85th percentile speed is the speed at or below which 85 percent of the drivers are traveling during the 

measurement period. Motorists traveling above the 85th percentile speed are generally considered to be exceeding the 

safe and reasonable speed for road and traffic conditions. 
2 City staff and leadership may be aware of Oregon Revised Statute ORS 810.180 (11) which includes a provision that 

allows cities to establish by ordinance a designated speed for a roadway that is up to 10 mph lower than the statutory 

speed. Upon review of this statute, it has been determined in consultation with ODOT that this statute does not apply to 

NW Oceanview Drive for several reasons. First, it is meant to provide cities latitude in reducing statutory speeds (such as 

an existing 25 mph residential speed limit). The 35 mph posted speed limit on NW Oceanview Drive is a designated 

speed limit, not a statutory speed limit. Second, the statute applies to residential districts only where the roadway in 

question is clearly serving a defined residential district with property access driveways spaced 150 feet apart or more 

frequently. For these reasons, ORS 810.180(11) is not applicable and cannot be used by the City to lower the speed limit 

on this segment of NW Oceanview Drive. 

13

https://www.oregonlegislature.gov/bills_laws/ors/ors810.html


January 11, 2024 Page 10 

Newport Oceanview Drive Assessment    

Kittelson & Associates, Inc.    

Traverse Rumble Strips 

Traverse rumble strips are pavement treatments such as grooves or raised pavement markers placed in the 

roadway perpendicular to the direction of travel and are intended to cause vehicular vibrations signaling 

drivers to slow down in advance of a speed transition area or some other condition such as the presence 

of an upcoming intersection or crosswalk. Exhibit 2 shows an example of a traverse rumble strip application. 

Exhibit 2 – Example of a Traverse Rumble Strip 

 

Dynamic Speed Displays 

Dynamic speed displays or speed feedback signs (see Exhibit 3) are signs that measure in real time 

vehicular travel speeds and display those speeds back to drivers. The City currently utilizes signs like these 

along NW Oceanview Drive in the vicinity of NW 15th Street and has found them to be effective at 

managing driver behavior. 

Exhibit 3 – Dynamic Speed Display 

 Source: FHWA Small Town and Rural Multimodal Networks  

14



January 11, 2024 Page 11 

Newport Oceanview Drive Assessment    

Kittelson & Associates, Inc.    

Lane Narrowing 

Wider travel lanes can give drivers a more comfortable feeling, which can oftentimes lead to higher 

speeds. A narrowing of travel lanes can have the opposite effect. Narrowing can take many different forms 

including physically narrowing the travel lane, introducing center islands, narrowing or replacing shoulders 

with curb and gutter, or other psychological treatments like speed reduction markings. Of these options, 

speed reduction markings could be applicable for portions of NW Oceanview Drive such as placement in 

advance of the Agate Beach pedestrian crossing. Exhibit 4 is a graphic representation of this treatment. 

Exhibit 4 – Speed Reduction Markings 

 

 

Recommendations 

The measured speeds on some portions of the northern segment of NW Oceanview Drive suggest some 

speed reduction measures may be appropriate, particularly considering the presence of the Agate Beach 

pedestrian crossing (see the following section of this report for additional information). There are no 

applicable provisions that would allow the City to artificially adjust the existing 35 mph posted speed, nor 

do we believe such actions would result in measurable changes in driver behavior. Instead, the City should 

investigate the provision of one or more passive speed management measures such as traverse rumble 

strips, speed feedback signs, and speed reduction markings. 

  

Source: FHWA Small Town and Rural Multimodal Networks  

15



January 11, 2024 Page 12 

Newport Oceanview Drive Assessment    

Kittelson & Associates, Inc.    

AGATE BEACH CROSSING ASSESSMENT 

At the request of City staff, a review of the NW Oceanview Drive/Agate Beach pedestrian crossing was 

performed. This crossing at the north end of the study corridor is shown in Exhibit 5, providing standard 

crosswalk signage, crosswalk markings, and overhead lighting. 

Exhibit 5 – NW Oceanview Drive Agate Beach Pedestrian Crossing 

 

Crossing Enhancement Assessment 

The Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) Guide for Improving Pedestrian Safety at Uncontrolled Crossing 

Locations informs what crossing countermeasures are typically appropriate given roadway features 

including speed, average annual daily traffic (AADT), and roadway configuration including number of 

lanes. ODOT has adopted this guidance, and the guidance produced by the FHWA is included in the 

ODOT Analysis Procedures Manual. ODOT also refined the guidance to local Oregon conditions, 

incorporated it into the ODOT Traffic Manual. Exhibit 6 is a graphical representation of the guidance and is 

based on different parameters including the annual average daily traffic (AADT), posted speed, presence 

of a refuge island, and number of lanes being crossed. 

 

16



January 11, 2024 Page 13 

Newport Oceanview Drive Assessment    

Kittelson & Associates, Inc.    

Exhibit 6 – ODOT Traffic Manual Uncontrolled Marked Crossing Treatments 

 

Findings  

The AADT along this segment of NW Oceanview Drive is less than 3,000 vehicles (~2,100 ADT), the posted 

speed is 35 mph, and the cross section is two lanes without a raised median. Under these current 

parameters, the treatment recommended by the ODOT Traffic Manual procedure is to provide 

“continental-style crosswalk markings, parking restrictions on each crosswalk approach (see Table 310.3-B), 

and lighting according to ODOT Traffic Lighting Design Manual.” It is also suggested that “crossing warning 

sign(s)” are provided for a midblock crossing with speeds greater than or equal to 30 miles per hour. Given 

the current measured speeds on this segment of NW Oceanview Drive (39 mph 85th percentile speeds), the 

guidance would not recommend a raised crosswalk as an appropriate treatment at the crossing. 

Signage Assessment 

In addition to the pedestrian crossing enhancement analysis, a signage audit was performed on this 

segment of NW Oceanview Drive to consider additional signing options. From this audit, there were three 

notable findings: 

◼ NW Oceanview Drive does not have advanced pedestrian crossing warning signage on the 

northbound or southbound approaches to the crossing. 

◼ The post-mounted pedestrian crossing warning sign located at the crossing serving southbound drivers 

on NW Oceanview Drive does not have a diagonal downward pointing arrow plaque mounted below 

the sign. In this situation, the MUTCD says this plaque shall be mounted below the sign.  

◼ The post-mounted pedestrian crossing warning sign serving northbound drivers on NW Oceanview 

Drive is located too far in advance of the crossing location (approximately 50 feet). This can be seen 

in Exhibit 2. 

17



January 11, 2024 Page 14 

Newport Oceanview Drive Assessment    

Kittelson & Associates, Inc.    

Recommendations 

◼ To provide drivers with additional advanced notice of the pedestrian crossing, the City may choose to 

install pedestrian crossing ahead signs (W11-2) and a supplemental “Ahead” (W16-9P) warning plaque 

in accordance with the guidelines of the MUTCD and applicable local standards. These signs should 

be placed a minimum of 100 feet in advance of the crossing. 

◼ The post-mounted pedestrian crossing warning sign serving northbound drivers on NW Oceanview 

Drive should be relocated to the pedestrian crossing. This relocated sign should also include a 

diagonal downward pointing arrow plaque (W16-7P) mounted below the sign. 

◼ The post-mounted pedestrian crossing warning sign serving southbound drivers on NW Oceanview 

Drive should include a diagonal downward pointing arrow plaque (W16-7P) mounted below the sign. 

◼ Consider supplemental speed reduction pavement markings, speed feedback signs, and/or traverse 

rumble strips on the northbound and southbound NW Oceanview Drive approaches to the crossing. 

NW Oceanview Drive Parking 

Just south of the Agate Beach Pedestrian crossing is a small head-in parking lot that can serve 

approximately 9-10 vehicles. When this lot gets full, drivers have been observed to park along both sides of 

NW Oceanview Drive south of the lot. While there is a wide gravel shoulder on the west side of NW 

Oceanview Drive, there is no formal shoulder on the east side. 

Recommendations 

◼ The City may choose to install no parking signage along the east side of NW Oceanview Drive. 

 

APPENDICES 

A. Traffic Count Worksheets 

B. Crash Data Reports 

C. MUTCD All-Way Stop Criteria Evaluation Worksheets 

18



January 11, 2024 Page 15 

Newport Oceanview Drive Assessment    

Kittelson & Associates, Inc.    

 

Appendix A 

19



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: N Coast Hwy/US-101 south of NE 31st St QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16145501
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: NB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Mar 30 2023 - Apr 1 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

30 Mar 23 31 Mar 23 1 Apr 23
12:00 AM 29 42 36 21 31
01:00 AM 18 20 19 21 20
02:00 AM 28 22 25 15 22
03:00 AM 20 19 20 15 18
04:00 AM 25 35 30 7 22
05:00 AM 83 65 74 25 58
06:00 AM 182 125 154 70 126
07:00 AM 283 273 278 163 240
08:00 AM 362 368 365 223 318
09:00 AM 506 446 476 350 434
10:00 AM 644 576 610 565 595
11:00 AM 759759 719719 739739 678678 719719
12:00 PM 777 812 795 717 769
01:00 PM 919 817 868 798 845
02:00 PM 874 860 867 879879 871
03:00 PM 977977 934934 956956 862 924924
04:00 PM 942 878 910 837 886
05:00 PM 816 727 772 713 752
06:00 PM 565 576 571 543 561
07:00 PM 453 378 416 404 412
08:00 PM 273 242 258 263 259
09:00 PM 173 172 173 211 185
10:00 PM 100 126 113 142 123
11:00 PM 67 74 71 33 58

Day TotalDay Total 9875 9306 9596 8555 9248

% Weekday
Average 102.9% 97%

% Week 
Average 106.8% 100.6% 103.8% 92.5%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
759

11:00 AM
719

11:00 AM
739

11:00 AM
678

11:00 AM
719

PM Peak 
Volume

3:00 PM
977

3:00 PM
934

3:00 PM
956

2:00 PM
879

3:00 PM
924

Comments:
Report generated on 4/14/2023 8:59 AM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

20



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: N Coast Hwy/US-101 south of NE 31st St QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16145501
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: NB, SB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Mar 30 2023 - Apr 1 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

30 Mar 23 31 Mar 23 1 Apr 23
12:00 AM 56 74 65 40 57
01:00 AM 34 41 38 42 39
02:00 AM 52 32 42 30 38
03:00 AM 48 46 47 42 45
04:00 AM 71 75 73 41 62
05:00 AM 175 150 163 78 134
06:00 AM 382 317 350 184 294
07:00 AM 711 654 683 390 585
08:00 AM 862 858 860 531 750
09:00 AM 1161 1024 1093 846 1010
10:00 AM 1398 1343 1371 1205 1315
11:00 AM 15661566 15141514 15401540 14391439 15061506
12:00 PM 1583 1637 1610 1479 1566
01:00 PM 17511751 1602 1677 1573 1642
02:00 PM 1682 16861686 16841684 16681668 16791679
03:00 PM 1703 1601 1652 1564 1623
04:00 PM 1706 1553 1630 1510 1590
05:00 PM 1473 1289 1381 1385 1382
06:00 PM 1028 1021 1025 1038 1029
07:00 PM 781 691 736 761 744
08:00 PM 514 474 494 520 503
09:00 PM 329 367 348 388 361
10:00 PM 190 255 223 247 231
11:00 PM 111 122 117 59 97

Day TotalDay Total 19367 18426 18902 17060 18282

% Weekday
Average 102.5% 97.5%

% Week 
Average 105.9% 100.8% 103.4% 93.3%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
1566

11:00 AM
1514

11:00 AM
1540

11:00 AM
1439

11:00 AM
1506

PM Peak 
Volume

1:00 PM
1751

2:00 PM
1686

2:00 PM
1684

2:00 PM
1668

2:00 PM
1679

Comments:
Report generated on 4/14/2023 8:59 AM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

21



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: N Coast Hwy/US-101 south of NE 31st St QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16145501
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: SB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Mar 30 2023 - Apr 1 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

30 Mar 23 31 Mar 23 1 Apr 23
12:00 AM 27 32 30 19 26
01:00 AM 16 21 19 21 19
02:00 AM 24 10 17 15 16
03:00 AM 28 27 28 27 27
04:00 AM 46 40 43 34 40
05:00 AM 92 85 89 53 77
06:00 AM 200 192 196 114 169
07:00 AM 428 381 405 227 345
08:00 AM 500 490 495 308 433
09:00 AM 655 578 617 496 576
10:00 AM 754 767 761 640 720
11:00 AM 807807 795795 801801 761761 788788
12:00 PM 806 825 816 762 798
01:00 PM 832832 785 809 775 797
02:00 PM 808 826826 817817 789789 808808
03:00 PM 726 667 697 702 698
04:00 PM 764 675 720 673 704
05:00 PM 657 562 610 672 630
06:00 PM 463 445 454 495 468
07:00 PM 328 313 321 357 333
08:00 PM 241 232 237 257 243
09:00 PM 156 195 176 177 176
10:00 PM 90 129 110 105 108
11:00 PM 44 48 46 26 39

Day TotalDay Total 9492 9120 9314 8505 9038

% Weekday
Average 101.9% 97.9%

% Week 
Average 105% 100.9% 103.1% 94.1%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
807

11:00 AM
795

11:00 AM
801

11:00 AM
761

11:00 AM
788

PM Peak 
Volume

1:00 PM
832

2:00 PM
826

2:00 PM
817

2:00 PM
789

2:00 PM
808

Comments:
Report generated on 4/14/2023 8:59 AM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

22



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW Oceanview Dr south of Agate Beach State Wayside QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16145502
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: NB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Mar 30 2023 - Apr 1 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

30 Mar 23 31 Mar 23 1 Apr 23
12:00 AM 11 3 7 5 6
01:00 AM 4 3 4 3 3
02:00 AM 3 1 2 2 2
03:00 AM 1 1 1 2 1
04:00 AM 1 1 1 2 1
05:00 AM 2 4 3 2 3
06:00 AM 7 7 7 6 7
07:00 AM 19 15 17 14 16
08:00 AM 30 30 30 28 29
09:00 AM 43 43 43 40 42
10:00 AM 49 55 52 66 57
11:00 AM 6969 6161 6565 7474 6868
12:00 PM 84 73 79 88 82
01:00 PM 90 8080 85 103103 9191
02:00 PM 92 78 85 93 88
03:00 PM 104104 73 8989 89 89
04:00 PM 84 70 77 87 80
05:00 PM 84 58 71 76 73
06:00 PM 56 39 48 57 51
07:00 PM 31 31 31 50 37
08:00 PM 36 19 28 27 27
09:00 PM 16 19 18 35 23
10:00 PM 12 15 14 15 14
11:00 PM 8 8 8 5 7

Day TotalDay Total 936 787 865 969 897

% Weekday
Average 108.2% 91%

% Week 
Average 104.3% 87.7% 96.4% 108%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
69

11:00 AM
61

11:00 AM
65

11:00 AM
74

11:00 AM
68

PM Peak 
Volume

3:00 PM
104

1:00 PM
80

3:00 PM
89

1:00 PM
103

1:00 PM
91

Comments:
Report generated on 4/6/2023 4:43 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

23



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW Oceanview Dr south of Agate Beach State Wayside QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16145502
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: NB, SB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Mar 30 2023 - Apr 1 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

30 Mar 23 31 Mar 23 1 Apr 23
12:00 AM 17 7 12 6 10
01:00 AM 7 4 6 8 6
02:00 AM 7 2 5 2 4
03:00 AM 2 2 2 4 3
04:00 AM 4 5 5 5 5
05:00 AM 6 11 9 3 7
06:00 AM 17 14 16 12 14
07:00 AM 43 35 39 30 36
08:00 AM 69 68 69 49 62
09:00 AM 81 90 86 84 85
10:00 AM 122 115 119 122 120
11:00 AM 147147 123123 135135 139139 136136
12:00 PM 168 142 155 170 160
01:00 PM 176 153153 165 198198 176
02:00 PM 175 146 161 188 170
03:00 PM 211211 139 175175 190 180180
04:00 PM 194 134 164 163 164
05:00 PM 172 98 135 140 137
06:00 PM 101 84 93 106 97
07:00 PM 62 59 61 89 70
08:00 PM 52 37 45 49 46
09:00 PM 27 36 32 63 42
10:00 PM 18 22 20 23 21
11:00 PM 14 17 16 9 13

Day TotalDay Total 1892 1543 1725 1852 1764

% Weekday
Average 109.7% 89.4%

% Week 
Average 107.3% 87.5% 97.8% 105%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
147

11:00 AM
123

11:00 AM
135

11:00 AM
139

11:00 AM
136

PM Peak 
Volume

3:00 PM
211

1:00 PM
153

3:00 PM
175

1:00 PM
198

3:00 PM
180

Comments:
Report generated on 4/6/2023 4:43 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

24



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW Oceanview Dr south of Agate Beach State Wayside QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16145502
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: SB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Mar 30 2023 - Apr 1 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

30 Mar 23 31 Mar 23 1 Apr 23
12:00 AM 6 4 5 1 4
01:00 AM 3 1 2 5 3
02:00 AM 4 1 3 0 2
03:00 AM 1 1 1 2 1
04:00 AM 3 4 4 3 3
05:00 AM 4 7 6 1 4
06:00 AM 10 7 9 6 8
07:00 AM 24 20 22 16 20
08:00 AM 39 38 39 21 33
09:00 AM 38 47 43 44 43
10:00 AM 73 60 67 56 63
11:00 AM 7878 6262 7070 6565 6868
12:00 PM 84 69 77 82 78
01:00 PM 86 7373 80 95 85
02:00 PM 83 68 76 95 82
03:00 PM 107 66 8787 101101 9191
04:00 PM 110110 64 87 76 83
05:00 PM 88 40 64 64 64
06:00 PM 45 45 45 49 46
07:00 PM 31 28 30 39 33
08:00 PM 16 18 17 22 19
09:00 PM 11 17 14 28 19
10:00 PM 6 7 7 8 7
11:00 PM 6 9 8 4 6

Day TotalDay Total 956 756 863 883 865

% Weekday
Average 110.8% 87.6%

% Week 
Average 110.5% 87.4% 99.8% 102.1%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
78

11:00 AM
62

11:00 AM
70

11:00 AM
65

11:00 AM
68

PM Peak 
Volume

4:00 PM
110

1:00 PM
73

3:00 PM
87

3:00 PM
101

3:00 PM
91

Comments:
Report generated on 4/6/2023 4:43 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

25



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW Oceanview Dr north of NW Pacific Pl/NW 25th St QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16145503
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: NB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Mar 30 2023 - Apr 1 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

30 Mar 23 31 Mar 23 1 Apr 23
12:00 AM 11 4 8 7 7
01:00 AM 5 5 5 3 4
02:00 AM 3 1 2 3 2
03:00 AM 2 1 2 2 2
04:00 AM 1 1 1 2 1
05:00 AM 2 4 3 2 3
06:00 AM 9 8 9 7 8
07:00 AM 24 14 19 13 17
08:00 AM 37 39 38 30 35
09:00 AM 42 43 43 34 40
10:00 AM 57 56 57 7474 62
11:00 AM 7272 6565 6969 68 6868
12:00 PM 89 71 80 86 82
01:00 PM 91 86 89 9898 9292
02:00 PM 90 9191 9191 86 89
03:00 PM 9999 76 88 89 88
04:00 PM 79 72 76 89 80
05:00 PM 84 69 77 80 78
06:00 PM 62 45 54 63 57
07:00 PM 33 43 38 52 43
08:00 PM 41 23 32 36 33
09:00 PM 19 24 22 35 26
10:00 PM 12 16 14 10 13
11:00 PM 8 8 8 7 8

Day TotalDay Total 972 865 925 976 938

% Weekday
Average 105.1% 93.5%

% Week 
Average 103.6% 92.2% 98.6% 104.1%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
72

11:00 AM
65

11:00 AM
69

10:00 AM
74

11:00 AM
68

PM Peak 
Volume

3:00 PM
99

2:00 PM
91

2:00 PM
91

1:00 PM
98

1:00 PM
92

Comments:
Report generated on 4/6/2023 4:43 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

26



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW Oceanview Dr north of NW Pacific Pl/NW 25th St QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16145503
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: NB, SB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Mar 30 2023 - Apr 1 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

30 Mar 23 31 Mar 23 1 Apr 23
12:00 AM 17 9 13 10 12
01:00 AM 9 7 8 8 8
02:00 AM 9 2 6 4 5
03:00 AM 3 1 2 4 3
04:00 AM 3 5 4 5 4
05:00 AM 7 12 10 3 7
06:00 AM 20 16 18 12 16
07:00 AM 48 35 42 29 37
08:00 AM 81 79 80 57 72
09:00 AM 86 98 92 82 89
10:00 AM 135 121 128 138138 131
11:00 AM 146146 130130 138138 127 134134
12:00 PM 180 146 163 170 165
01:00 PM 185 170170 178178 188188 181181
02:00 PM 171 166 169 176 171
03:00 PM 194194 148 171 188 177
04:00 PM 181 135 158 170 162
05:00 PM 176 118 147 149 148
06:00 PM 113 95 104 110 106
07:00 PM 68 78 73 98 81
08:00 PM 63 44 54 71 59
09:00 PM 35 49 42 70 51
10:00 PM 21 25 23 34 27
11:00 PM 15 21 18 13 16

Day TotalDay Total 1966 1710 1841 1916 1862

% Weekday
Average 106.8% 92.9%

% Week 
Average 105.6% 91.8% 98.9% 102.9%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
146

11:00 AM
130

11:00 AM
138

10:00 AM
138

11:00 AM
134

PM Peak 
Volume

3:00 PM
194

1:00 PM
170

1:00 PM
178

1:00 PM
188

1:00 PM
181

Comments:
Report generated on 4/6/2023 4:43 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

27



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW Oceanview Dr north of NW Pacific Pl/NW 25th St QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16145503
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: SB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Mar 30 2023 - Apr 1 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

30 Mar 23 31 Mar 23 1 Apr 23
12:00 AM 6 5 6 3 5
01:00 AM 4 2 3 5 4
02:00 AM 6 1 4 1 3
03:00 AM 1 0 1 2 1
04:00 AM 2 4 3 3 3
05:00 AM 5 8 7 1 5
06:00 AM 11 8 10 5 8
07:00 AM 24 21 23 16 20
08:00 AM 44 40 42 27 37
09:00 AM 44 55 50 48 49
10:00 AM 7878 6565 7272 6464 6969
11:00 AM 74 65 70 59 66
12:00 PM 91 75 83 84 83
01:00 PM 94 8484 8989 90 8989
02:00 PM 81 75 78 90 82
03:00 PM 95 72 84 9999 89
04:00 PM 102102 63 83 81 82
05:00 PM 92 49 71 69 70
06:00 PM 51 50 51 47 49
07:00 PM 35 35 35 46 39
08:00 PM 22 21 22 35 26
09:00 PM 16 25 21 35 25
10:00 PM 9 9 9 24 14
11:00 PM 7 13 10 6 9

Day TotalDay Total 994 845 927 940 927

% Weekday
Average 107.2% 91.2%

% Week 
Average 107.2% 91.2% 100% 101.4%

AM Peak 
Volume

10:00 AM
78

10:00 AM
65

10:00 AM
72

10:00 AM
64

10:00 AM
69

PM Peak 
Volume

4:00 PM
102

1:00 PM
84

1:00 PM
89

3:00 PM
99

1:00 PM
89

Comments:
Report generated on 4/6/2023 4:43 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

28



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW Oceanview Dr btwn NW 16th St & NW 15th St QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16145504
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: NB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Mar 30 2023 - Apr 1 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

30 Mar 23 31 Mar 23 1 Apr 23
12:00 AM 8 3 6 7 6
01:00 AM 5 2 4 5 4
02:00 AM 4 2 3 0 2
03:00 AM 1 0 1 2 1
04:00 AM 1 1 1 3 2
05:00 AM 3 3 3 1 2
06:00 AM 15 10 13 6 10
07:00 AM 27 22 25 15 21
08:00 AM 54 54 54 34 47
09:00 AM 63 65 64 56 61
10:00 AM 95 107 101 118 107
11:00 AM 119119 133133 126126 124124 125125
12:00 PM 151 158 155 131 147
01:00 PM 180180 171171 176176 134134 162162
02:00 PM 133 167 150 130 143
03:00 PM 173 139 156 134 149
04:00 PM 137 137 137 104 126
05:00 PM 160 146 153 113 140
06:00 PM 83 75 79 82 80
07:00 PM 47 48 48 72 56
08:00 PM 47 34 41 38 40
09:00 PM 22 24 23 32 26
10:00 PM 20 24 22 12 19
11:00 PM 8 9 9 6 8

Day TotalDay Total 1556 1534 1550 1359 1484

% Weekday
Average 100.4% 99%

% Week 
Average 104.9% 103.4% 104.4% 91.6%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
119

11:00 AM
133

11:00 AM
126

11:00 AM
124

11:00 AM
125

PM Peak 
Volume

1:00 PM
180

1:00 PM
171

1:00 PM
176

1:00 PM
134

1:00 PM
162

Comments:
Report generated on 4/6/2023 4:43 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

29



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW Oceanview Dr btwn NW 16th St & NW 15th St QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16145504
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: NB, SB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Mar 30 2023 - Apr 1 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

30 Mar 23 31 Mar 23 1 Apr 23
12:00 AM 14 8 11 11 11
01:00 AM 9 2 6 9 7
02:00 AM 9 3 6 0 4
03:00 AM 1 0 1 3 1
04:00 AM 3 5 4 4 4
05:00 AM 5 6 6 3 5
06:00 AM 22 17 20 11 17
07:00 AM 48 42 45 24 38
08:00 AM 102 97 100 61 87
09:00 AM 105 116 111 103 108
10:00 AM 164 170 167 194 176
11:00 AM 212212 214214 213213 207207 211211
12:00 PM 267 262 265 224 251
01:00 PM 294294 288288 291291 222 268268
02:00 PM 253 264 259 224 247
03:00 PM 279 236 258 251251 255
04:00 PM 238 229 234 186 218
05:00 PM 278 223 251 186 229
06:00 PM 152 132 142 138 141
07:00 PM 85 88 87 121 98
08:00 PM 70 66 68 78 71
09:00 PM 36 36 36 56 43
10:00 PM 36 39 38 32 36
11:00 PM 16 20 18 13 16

Day TotalDay Total 2698 2563 2637 2361 2542

% Weekday
Average 102.3% 97.2%

% Week 
Average 106.1% 100.8% 103.7% 92.9%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
212

11:00 AM
214

11:00 AM
213

11:00 AM
207

11:00 AM
211

PM Peak 
Volume

1:00 PM
294

1:00 PM
288

1:00 PM
291

3:00 PM
251

1:00 PM
268

Comments:
Report generated on 4/6/2023 4:43 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

30



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW Oceanview Dr btwn NW 16th St & NW 15th St QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16145504
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: SB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Mar 30 2023 - Apr 1 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

30 Mar 23 31 Mar 23 1 Apr 23
12:00 AM 6 5 6 4 5
01:00 AM 4 0 2 4 3
02:00 AM 5 1 3 0 2
03:00 AM 0 0 0 1 0
04:00 AM 2 4 3 1 2
05:00 AM 2 3 3 2 2
06:00 AM 7 7 7 5 6
07:00 AM 21 20 21 9 17
08:00 AM 48 43 46 27 39
09:00 AM 42 51 47 47 47
10:00 AM 69 63 66 76 69
11:00 AM 9393 8181 8787 8383 8686
12:00 PM 116 104 110 93 104
01:00 PM 114 117117 116116 88 106
02:00 PM 120120 97 109 94 104
03:00 PM 106 97 102 117117 107107
04:00 PM 101 92 97 82 92
05:00 PM 118 77 98 73 89
06:00 PM 69 57 63 56 61
07:00 PM 38 40 39 49 42
08:00 PM 23 32 28 40 32
09:00 PM 14 12 13 24 17
10:00 PM 16 15 16 20 17
11:00 PM 8 11 10 7 9

Day TotalDay Total 1142 1029 1092 1002 1058

% Weekday
Average 104.6% 94.2%

% Week 
Average 107.9% 97.3% 103.2% 94.7%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
93

11:00 AM
81

11:00 AM
87

11:00 AM
83

11:00 AM
86

PM Peak 
Volume

2:00 PM
120

1:00 PM
117

1:00 PM
116

3:00 PM
117

3:00 PM
107

Comments:
Report generated on 4/6/2023 4:43 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

31



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW 15th St east of NW Oceanview Dr QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16145505
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: EB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Mar 30 2023 - Apr 1 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

30 Mar 23 31 Mar 23 1 Apr 23
12:00 AM 0 1 1 0 0
01:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0
02:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0
03:00 AM 1 2 2 0 1
04:00 AM 2 2 2 1 2
05:00 AM 9 5 7 2 5
06:00 AM 13 11 12 4 9
07:00 AM 23 21 22 14 19
08:00 AM 14 19 17 15 16
09:00 AM 24 25 25 28 26
10:00 AM 34 24 29 19 26
11:00 AM 4040 3232 3636 2929 3434
12:00 PM 3535 30 3333 23 29
01:00 PM 29 32 31 3030 3030
02:00 PM 25 3333 29 29 29
03:00 PM 24 30 27 23 26
04:00 PM 28 28 28 25 27
05:00 PM 19 15 17 14 16
06:00 PM 12 14 13 8 11
07:00 PM 12 13 13 12 12
08:00 PM 6 7 7 9 7
09:00 PM 4 11 8 7 7
10:00 PM 2 3 3 5 3
11:00 PM 2 2 2 4 3

Day TotalDay Total 358 360 364 301 338

% Weekday
Average 98.4% 98.9%

% Week 
Average 105.9% 106.5% 107.7% 89.1%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
40

11:00 AM
32

11:00 AM
36

11:00 AM
29

11:00 AM
34

PM Peak 
Volume

12:00 PM
35

2:00 PM
33

12:00 PM
33

1:00 PM
30

1:00 PM
30

Comments:
Report generated on 4/6/2023 4:43 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

32



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW 15th St east of NW Oceanview Dr QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16145505
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: EB, WB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Mar 30 2023 - Apr 1 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

30 Mar 23 31 Mar 23 1 Apr 23
12:00 AM 0 1 1 1 1
01:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0
02:00 AM 1 0 1 0 0
03:00 AM 1 3 2 1 2
04:00 AM 3 2 3 2 2
05:00 AM 16 8 12 2 9
06:00 AM 20 21 21 9 17
07:00 AM 42 44 43 23 36
08:00 AM 37 51 44 40 43
09:00 AM 57 73 65 7070 67
10:00 AM 83 73 78 61 72
11:00 AM 9797 9898 9898 69 8888
12:00 PM 112112 95 104104 75 9494
01:00 PM 89 101101 95 7878 89
02:00 PM 97 86 92 75 86
03:00 PM 84 96 90 63 81
04:00 PM 97 81 89 66 81
05:00 PM 61 49 55 42 51
06:00 PM 34 33 34 31 33
07:00 PM 28 28 28 27 28
08:00 PM 13 19 16 24 19
09:00 PM 8 21 15 14 14
10:00 PM 7 6 7 6 6
11:00 PM 4 5 5 5 5

Day TotalDay Total 991 994 998 784 924

% Weekday
Average 99.3% 99.6%

% Week 
Average 107.3% 107.6% 108% 84.8%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
97

11:00 AM
98

11:00 AM
98

9:00 AM
70

11:00 AM
88

PM Peak 
Volume

12:00 PM
112

1:00 PM
101

12:00 PM
104

1:00 PM
78

12:00 PM
94

Comments:
Report generated on 4/6/2023 4:43 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

33



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW 15th St east of NW Oceanview Dr QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16145505
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: WB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Mar 30 2023 - Apr 1 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

30 Mar 23 31 Mar 23 1 Apr 23
12:00 AM 0 0 0 1 0
01:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0
02:00 AM 1 0 1 0 0
03:00 AM 0 1 1 1 1
04:00 AM 1 0 1 1 1
05:00 AM 7 3 5 0 3
06:00 AM 7 10 9 5 7
07:00 AM 19 23 21 9 17
08:00 AM 23 32 28 25 27
09:00 AM 33 48 41 4242 41
10:00 AM 49 49 49 42 47
11:00 AM 5757 6666 6262 40 5454
12:00 PM 7777 65 7171 5252 6565
01:00 PM 60 6969 65 48 59
02:00 PM 72 53 63 46 57
03:00 PM 60 66 63 40 55
04:00 PM 69 53 61 41 54
05:00 PM 42 34 38 28 35
06:00 PM 22 19 21 23 21
07:00 PM 16 15 16 15 15
08:00 PM 7 12 10 15 11
09:00 PM 4 10 7 7 7
10:00 PM 5 3 4 1 3
11:00 PM 2 3 3 1 2

Day TotalDay Total 633 634 640 483 582

% Weekday
Average 98.9% 99.1%

% Week 
Average 108.8% 108.9% 110% 83%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
57

11:00 AM
66

11:00 AM
62

9:00 AM
42

11:00 AM
54

PM Peak 
Volume

12:00 PM
77

1:00 PM
69

12:00 PM
71

12:00 PM
52

12:00 PM
65

Comments:
Report generated on 4/6/2023 4:43 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

34



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW Oceanview Dr btwn NW 15th St & NW 14th St QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16145506
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: NB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Mar 30 2023 - Apr 1 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

30 Mar 23 31 Mar 23 1 Apr 23
12:00 AM 8 2 5 5 5
01:00 AM 5 3 4 4 4
02:00 AM 4 2 3 0 2
03:00 AM 0 0 0 2 1
04:00 AM 1 1 1 3 2
05:00 AM 3 3 3 1 2
06:00 AM 12 11 12 6 10
07:00 AM 23 16 20 14 18
08:00 AM 43 40 42 33 39
09:00 AM 51 47 49 45 48
10:00 AM 78 84 81 9797 86
11:00 AM 9090 102102 9696 88 9393
12:00 PM 128128 110 119 107107 115
01:00 PM 128 133133 131131 105 122122
02:00 PM 107 113 110 104 108
03:00 PM 128 110 119 103 114
04:00 PM 99 98 99 87 95
05:00 PM 121 113 117 90 108
06:00 PM 55 58 57 58 57
07:00 PM 43 46 45 59 49
08:00 PM 39 30 35 36 35
09:00 PM 25 18 22 27 23
10:00 PM 22 28 25 12 21
11:00 PM 6 8 7 9 8

Day TotalDay Total 1219 1176 1202 1095 1165

% Weekday
Average 101.4% 97.8%

% Week 
Average 104.6% 100.9% 103.2% 94%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
90

11:00 AM
102

11:00 AM
96

10:00 AM
97

11:00 AM
93

PM Peak 
Volume

12:00 PM
128

1:00 PM
133

1:00 PM
131

12:00 PM
107

1:00 PM
122

Comments:
Report generated on 4/6/2023 4:43 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

35



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW Oceanview Dr btwn NW 15th St & NW 14th St QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16145506
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: NB, SB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Mar 30 2023 - Apr 1 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

30 Mar 23 31 Mar 23 1 Apr 23
12:00 AM 14 5 10 8 9
01:00 AM 9 3 6 8 7
02:00 AM 9 3 6 0 4
03:00 AM 0 0 0 3 1
04:00 AM 2 3 3 4 3
05:00 AM 4 4 4 3 4
06:00 AM 16 18 17 10 15
07:00 AM 40 32 36 24 32
08:00 AM 80 73 77 56 70
09:00 AM 88 92 90 87 89
10:00 AM 142 140 141 156156 146
11:00 AM 166166 171171 169169 155 164164
12:00 PM 245245 198 222 185 209
01:00 PM 228 243243 236236 191 221221
02:00 PM 230 196 213 194 207
03:00 PM 228 192 210 202202 207
04:00 PM 195 178 187 163 179
05:00 PM 234 179 207 151 188
06:00 PM 119 120 120 107 115
07:00 PM 85 86 86 109 93
08:00 PM 57 60 59 77 65
09:00 PM 39 35 37 49 41
10:00 PM 35 44 40 32 37
11:00 PM 13 18 16 20 17

Day TotalDay Total 2278 2093 2192 1994 2123

% Weekday
Average 103.9% 95.5%

% Week 
Average 107.3% 98.6% 103.3% 93.9%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
166

11:00 AM
171

11:00 AM
169

10:00 AM
156

11:00 AM
164

PM Peak 
Volume

12:00 PM
245

1:00 PM
243

1:00 PM
236

3:00 PM
202

1:00 PM
221

Comments:
Report generated on 4/6/2023 4:43 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

36



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW Oceanview Dr btwn NW 15th St & NW 14th St QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16145506
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: SB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Mar 30 2023 - Apr 1 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

30 Mar 23 31 Mar 23 1 Apr 23
12:00 AM 6 3 5 3 4
01:00 AM 4 0 2 4 3
02:00 AM 5 1 3 0 2
03:00 AM 0 0 0 1 0
04:00 AM 1 2 2 1 1
05:00 AM 1 1 1 2 1
06:00 AM 4 7 6 4 5
07:00 AM 17 16 17 10 14
08:00 AM 37 33 35 23 31
09:00 AM 37 45 41 42 41
10:00 AM 64 56 60 59 60
11:00 AM 7676 6969 7373 6767 7171
12:00 PM 117 88 103 78 94
01:00 PM 100 110110 105105 86 9999
02:00 PM 123123 83 103 90 99
03:00 PM 100 82 91 9999 94
04:00 PM 96 80 88 76 84
05:00 PM 113 66 90 61 80
06:00 PM 64 62 63 49 58
07:00 PM 42 40 41 50 44
08:00 PM 18 30 24 41 30
09:00 PM 14 17 16 22 18
10:00 PM 13 16 15 20 16
11:00 PM 7 10 9 11 9

Day TotalDay Total 1059 917 993 899 958

% Weekday
Average 106.6% 92.3%

% Week 
Average 110.5% 95.7% 103.7% 93.8%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
76

11:00 AM
69

11:00 AM
73

11:00 AM
67

11:00 AM
71

PM Peak 
Volume

2:00 PM
123

1:00 PM
110

1:00 PM
105

3:00 PM
99

1:00 PM
99

Comments:
Report generated on 4/6/2023 4:43 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

37



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: N Coast Hwy/US-101 south of NE 31st St QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16278301
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: NB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Jul 20 2023 - Jul 22 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

20 Jul 23 21 Jul 23 22 Jul 23
12:00 AM 19 32 26 38 30
01:00 AM 25 26 26 25 25
02:00 AM 18 22 20 15 18
03:00 AM 18 18 18 12 16
04:00 AM 33 42 38 28 34
05:00 AM 73 80 77 74 76
06:00 AM 199 128 164 75 134
07:00 AM 285 290 288 185 253
08:00 AM 416 398 407 277 364
09:00 AM 507 569 538 502 526
10:00 AM 609 638 624 650 632
11:00 AM 724724 809809 767767 721721 751751
12:00 PM 800 819 810 788 802
01:00 PM 821 800 811 882 834
02:00 PM 854 826 840 898 859
03:00 PM 901 953953 927927 927927 927927
04:00 PM 912912 887 900 846 882
05:00 PM 848 941 895 717 835
06:00 PM 723 728 726 673 708
07:00 PM 513 514 514 518 515
08:00 PM 336 351 344 351 346
09:00 PM 227 249 238 280 252
10:00 PM 126 186 156 157 156
11:00 PM 67 90 79 89 82

Day TotalDay Total 10054 10396 10233 9728 10057

% Weekday
Average 98.3% 101.6%

% Week 
Average 100% 103.4% 101.8% 96.7%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
724

11:00 AM
809

11:00 AM
767

11:00 AM
721

11:00 AM
751

PM Peak 
Volume

4:00 PM
912

3:00 PM
953

3:00 PM
927

3:00 PM
927

3:00 PM
927

Comments:
Report generated on 7/26/2023 4:11 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

38



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: N Coast Hwy/US-101 south of NE 31st St QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16278301
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: NB, SB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Jul 20 2023 - Jul 22 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

20 Jul 23 21 Jul 23 22 Jul 23
12:00 AM 42 64 53 68 58
01:00 AM 49 46 48 43 46
02:00 AM 37 44 41 40 40
03:00 AM 55 52 54 32 46
04:00 AM 86 95 91 74 85
05:00 AM 171 172 172 176 173
06:00 AM 453 376 415 214 348
07:00 AM 817 712 765 421 650
08:00 AM 971 938 955 658 856
09:00 AM 1179 1176 1178 1126 1160
10:00 AM 1355 1431 1393 1361 1382
11:00 AM 15081508 15931593 15511551 15161516 15391539
12:00 PM 1596 1599 1598 1625 1607
01:00 PM 1608 1626 1617 16841684 1639
02:00 PM 1605 1624 1615 1684 1638
03:00 PM 16611661 17221722 16921692 1649 16771677
04:00 PM 1657 1684 1671 1627 1656
05:00 PM 1523 1653 1588 1388 1521
06:00 PM 1255 1274 1265 1272 1267
07:00 PM 842 953 898 933 909
08:00 PM 623 687 655 686 665
09:00 PM 487 499 493 566 517
10:00 PM 276 376 326 346 333
11:00 PM 113 167 140 182 154

Day TotalDay Total 19969 20563 20274 19371 19966

% Weekday
Average 98.5% 101.4%

% Week 
Average 100% 103% 101.5% 97%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
1508

11:00 AM
1593

11:00 AM
1551

11:00 AM
1516

11:00 AM
1539

PM Peak 
Volume

3:00 PM
1661

3:00 PM
1722

3:00 PM
1692

1:00 PM
1684

3:00 PM
1677

Comments:
Report generated on 7/26/2023 4:11 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

39



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: N Coast Hwy/US-101 south of NE 31st St QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16278301
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: SB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Jul 20 2023 - Jul 22 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

20 Jul 23 21 Jul 23 22 Jul 23
12:00 AM 23 32 28 30 28
01:00 AM 24 20 22 18 21
02:00 AM 19 22 21 25 22
03:00 AM 37 34 36 20 30
04:00 AM 53 53 53 46 51
05:00 AM 98 92 95 102 97
06:00 AM 254 248 251 139 214
07:00 AM 532 422 477 236 397
08:00 AM 555 540 548 381 492
09:00 AM 672 607 640 624 634
10:00 AM 746 793793 770 711 750
11:00 AM 784784 784 784784 795795 788788
12:00 PM 796796 780 788 837837 804
01:00 PM 787 826826 807807 802 805805
02:00 PM 751 798 775 786 778
03:00 PM 760 769 765 722 750
04:00 PM 745 797 771 781 774
05:00 PM 675 712 694 671 686
06:00 PM 532 546 539 599 559
07:00 PM 329 439 384 415 394
08:00 PM 287 336 312 335 319
09:00 PM 260 250 255 286 265
10:00 PM 150 190 170 189 176
11:00 PM 46 77 62 93 72

Day TotalDay Total 9915 10167 10047 9643 9906

% Weekday
Average 98.7% 101.2%

% Week 
Average 100.1% 102.6% 101.4% 97.3%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
784

10:00 AM
793

11:00 AM
784

11:00 AM
795

11:00 AM
788

PM Peak 
Volume

12:00 PM
796

1:00 PM
826

1:00 PM
807

12:00 PM
837

1:00 PM
805

Comments:
Report generated on 7/26/2023 4:11 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

40



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW Oceanview Dr south of Agate Beach State Wayside QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16278302
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: NB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Jul 20 2023 - Jul 22 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

20 Jul 23 21 Jul 23 22 Jul 23
12:00 AM 8 4 6 5 6
01:00 AM 5 2 4 4 4
02:00 AM 3 1 2 2 2
03:00 AM 0 1 1 2 1
04:00 AM 0 0 0 2 1
05:00 AM 1 6 4 2 3
06:00 AM 7 6 7 5 6
07:00 AM 16 20 18 21 19
08:00 AM 38 37 38 38 38
09:00 AM 57 53 55 68 59
10:00 AM 45 8181 63 80 69
11:00 AM 6969 67 6868 9898 7878
12:00 PM 81 81 81 90 84
01:00 PM 100100 74 87 110110 95
02:00 PM 86 99 93 110 9898
03:00 PM 83 99 91 93 92
04:00 PM 82 87 85 83 84
05:00 PM 86 101101 9494 83 90
06:00 PM 77 48 63 66 64
07:00 PM 46 56 51 61 54
08:00 PM 38 56 47 48 47
09:00 PM 25 27 26 29 27
10:00 PM 20 13 17 25 19
11:00 PM 10 14 12 7 10

Day TotalDay Total 983 1033 1013 1132 1050

% Weekday
Average 97% 102%

% Week 
Average 93.6% 98.4% 96.5% 107.8%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
69

10:00 AM
81

11:00 AM
68

11:00 AM
98

11:00 AM
78

PM Peak 
Volume

1:00 PM
100

5:00 PM
101

5:00 PM
94

1:00 PM
110

2:00 PM
98

Comments:
Report generated on 7/26/2023 4:11 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

41



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW Oceanview Dr south of Agate Beach State Wayside QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16278302
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: NB, SB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Jul 20 2023 - Jul 22 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

20 Jul 23 21 Jul 23 22 Jul 23
12:00 AM 11 7 9 10 9
01:00 AM 8 3 6 7 6
02:00 AM 3 3 3 4 3
03:00 AM 0 1 1 4 2
04:00 AM 0 1 1 3 1
05:00 AM 1 11 6 8 7
06:00 AM 16 15 16 17 16
07:00 AM 47 53 50 47 49
08:00 AM 78 79 79 73 77
09:00 AM 107 122 115 124 118
10:00 AM 120 155155 138 180 152
11:00 AM 153153 153 153153 188188 165165
12:00 PM 181 181 181 190 184
01:00 PM 213213 168 191 222222 201
02:00 PM 181 212212 197197 218 204204
03:00 PM 185 196 191 200 194
04:00 PM 170 184 177 193 182
05:00 PM 171 185 178 159 172
06:00 PM 130 111 121 130 124
07:00 PM 88 117 103 136 114
08:00 PM 77 95 86 102 91
09:00 PM 54 45 50 68 56
10:00 PM 41 32 37 39 37
11:00 PM 15 27 21 18 20

Day TotalDay Total 2050 2156 2110 2340 2184

% Weekday
Average 97.2% 102.2%

% Week 
Average 93.9% 98.7% 96.6% 107.1%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
153

10:00 AM
155

11:00 AM
153

11:00 AM
188

11:00 AM
165

PM Peak 
Volume

1:00 PM
213

2:00 PM
212

2:00 PM
197

1:00 PM
222

2:00 PM
204

Comments:
Report generated on 7/26/2023 4:11 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

42



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW Oceanview Dr south of Agate Beach State Wayside QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16278302
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: SB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Jul 20 2023 - Jul 22 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

20 Jul 23 21 Jul 23 22 Jul 23
12:00 AM 3 3 3 5 4
01:00 AM 3 1 2 3 2
02:00 AM 0 2 1 2 1
03:00 AM 0 0 0 2 1
04:00 AM 0 1 1 1 1
05:00 AM 0 5 3 6 4
06:00 AM 9 9 9 12 10
07:00 AM 31 33 32 26 30
08:00 AM 40 42 41 35 39
09:00 AM 50 69 60 56 58
10:00 AM 75 74 75 100100 83
11:00 AM 8484 8686 8585 90 8787
12:00 PM 100 100 100 100 100
01:00 PM 113113 94 104104 112112 106106
02:00 PM 95 113113 104 108 105
03:00 PM 102 97 100 107 102
04:00 PM 88 97 93 110 98
05:00 PM 85 84 85 76 82
06:00 PM 53 63 58 64 60
07:00 PM 42 61 52 75 59
08:00 PM 39 39 39 54 44
09:00 PM 29 18 24 39 29
10:00 PM 21 19 20 14 18
11:00 PM 5 13 9 11 10

Day TotalDay Total 1067 1123 1100 1208 1133

% Weekday
Average 97% 102.1%

% Week 
Average 94.2% 99.1% 97.1% 106.6%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
84

11:00 AM
86

11:00 AM
85

10:00 AM
100

11:00 AM
87

PM Peak 
Volume

1:00 PM
113

2:00 PM
113

1:00 PM
104

1:00 PM
112

1:00 PM
106

Comments:
Report generated on 7/26/2023 4:11 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

43



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW Oceanview Dr north of NW Pacific Pl/NW 25th St QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16278303
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: NB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Jul 20 2023 - Jul 22 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

20 Jul 23 21 Jul 23 22 Jul 23
12:00 AM 6 3 5 3 4
01:00 AM 4 2 3 2 3
02:00 AM 0 1 1 2 1
03:00 AM 1 0 1 2 1
04:00 AM 2 6 4 1 3
05:00 AM 8 7 8 9 8
06:00 AM 19 22 21 19 20
07:00 AM 41 36 39 42 40
08:00 AM 61 58 60 68 62
09:00 AM 40 80 60 75 65
10:00 AM 74 71 73 89 78
11:00 AM 8686 8787 8787 9393 8989
12:00 PM 9494 75 85 114114 94
01:00 PM 81 102 92 106 9696
02:00 PM 86 99 93 95 93
03:00 PM 85 89 87 95 90
04:00 PM 90 103103 9797 82 92
05:00 PM 77 59 68 68 68
06:00 PM 44 49 47 68 54
07:00 PM 42 60 51 53 52
08:00 PM 34 34 34 30 33
09:00 PM 22 16 19 20 19
10:00 PM 14 14 14 11 13
11:00 PM 4 5 5 8 6

Day TotalDay Total 1015 1078 1054 1155 1084

% Weekday
Average 96.3% 102.3%

% Week 
Average 93.6% 99.4% 97.2% 106.5%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
86

11:00 AM
87

11:00 AM
87

11:00 AM
93

11:00 AM
89

PM Peak 
Volume

12:00 PM
94

4:00 PM
103

4:00 PM
97

12:00 PM
114

1:00 PM
96

Comments:
Report generated on 7/26/2023 4:11 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

44



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW Oceanview Dr north of NW Pacific Pl/NW 25th St QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16278303
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: NB, SB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Jul 20 2023 - Jul 22 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

20 Jul 23 21 Jul 23 22 Jul 23
12:00 AM 11 6 9 10 9
01:00 AM 6 4 5 8 6
02:00 AM 0 1 1 4 2
03:00 AM 3 0 2 3 2
04:00 AM 3 12 8 6 7
05:00 AM 20 21 21 23 21
06:00 AM 62 52 57 40 51
07:00 AM 92 85 89 90 89
08:00 AM 131 146 139 129 135
09:00 AM 138 158 148 189 162
10:00 AM 163 174 169 187 175
11:00 AM 219219 205205 212212 212212 212212
12:00 PM 219219 188 204 222222 210210
01:00 PM 179 216216 198 207 201
02:00 PM 203 207 205205 211 207
03:00 PM 179 211 195 206 199
04:00 PM 194 199 197 161 185
05:00 PM 145 140 143 150 145
06:00 PM 84 122 103 155 120
07:00 PM 90 118 104 120 109
08:00 PM 81 54 68 85 73
09:00 PM 55 38 47 44 46
10:00 PM 26 35 31 31 31
11:00 PM 8 9 9 14 10

Day TotalDay Total 2311 2401 2364 2507 2407

% Weekday
Average 97.8% 101.6%

% Week 
Average 96% 99.8% 98.2% 104.2%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
219

11:00 AM
205

11:00 AM
212

11:00 AM
212

11:00 AM
212

PM Peak 
Volume

12:00 PM
219

1:00 PM
216

2:00 PM
205

12:00 PM
222

12:00 PM
210

Comments:
Report generated on 7/26/2023 4:11 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

45



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW Oceanview Dr north of NW Pacific Pl/NW 25th St QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16278303
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: SB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Jul 20 2023 - Jul 22 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

20 Jul 23 21 Jul 23 22 Jul 23
12:00 AM 5 3 4 7 5
01:00 AM 2 2 2 6 3
02:00 AM 0 0 0 2 1
03:00 AM 2 0 1 1 1
04:00 AM 1 6 4 5 4
05:00 AM 12 14 13 14 13
06:00 AM 43 30 37 21 31
07:00 AM 51 49 50 48 49
08:00 AM 70 88 79 61 73
09:00 AM 98 78 88 114 97
10:00 AM 89 103 96 98 97
11:00 AM 133133 118118 126126 119119 123123
12:00 PM 125125 113 119119 108 115115
01:00 PM 98 114 106 101 104
02:00 PM 117 108 113 116116 114
03:00 PM 94 122122 108 111 109
04:00 PM 104 96 100 79 93
05:00 PM 68 81 75 82 77
06:00 PM 40 73 57 87 67
07:00 PM 48 58 53 67 58
08:00 PM 47 20 34 55 41
09:00 PM 33 22 28 24 26
10:00 PM 12 21 17 20 18
11:00 PM 4 4 4 6 5

Day TotalDay Total 1296 1323 1314 1352 1324

% Weekday
Average 98.6% 100.7%

% Week 
Average 97.9% 99.9% 99.2% 102.1%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
133

11:00 AM
118

11:00 AM
126

11:00 AM
119

11:00 AM
123

PM Peak 
Volume

12:00 PM
125

3:00 PM
122

12:00 PM
119

2:00 PM
116

12:00 PM
115

Comments:
Report generated on 7/26/2023 4:11 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

46



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW Oceanview Dr btwn NW 16th St & NW 15th St QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16278304
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: NB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Jul 20 2023 - Jul 22 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

20 Jul 23 21 Jul 23 22 Jul 23
12:00 AM 6 5 6 5 5
01:00 AM 5 5 5 4 5
02:00 AM 4 2 3 1 2
03:00 AM 0 1 1 1 1
04:00 AM 4 3 4 4 4
05:00 AM 1 2 2 3 2
06:00 AM 13 13 13 9 12
07:00 AM 28 30 29 23 27
08:00 AM 59 57 58 42 53
09:00 AM 73 84 79 86 81
10:00 AM 98 118 108 114114 110
11:00 AM 164164 134134 149149 113 137137
12:00 PM 147 142 145 123 137
01:00 PM 176176 146 161 155 159
02:00 PM 160 185185 173173 156156 167167
03:00 PM 161 181 171 140 161
04:00 PM 146 153 150 122 140
05:00 PM 153 182 168 105 147
06:00 PM 102 82 92 86 90
07:00 PM 72 74 73 82 76
08:00 PM 57 69 63 72 66
09:00 PM 39 37 38 36 37
10:00 PM 16 14 15 31 20
11:00 PM 8 10 9 6 8

Day TotalDay Total 1692 1729 1715 1519 1647

% Weekday
Average 98.7% 100.8%

% Week 
Average 102.7% 105% 104.1% 92.2%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
164

11:00 AM
134

11:00 AM
149

10:00 AM
114

11:00 AM
137

PM Peak 
Volume

1:00 PM
176

2:00 PM
185

2:00 PM
173

2:00 PM
156

2:00 PM
167

Comments:
Report generated on 7/26/2023 4:11 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

47



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW Oceanview Dr btwn NW 16th St & NW 15th St QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16278304
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: NB, SB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Jul 20 2023 - Jul 22 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

20 Jul 23 21 Jul 23 22 Jul 23
12:00 AM 8 8 8 10 9
01:00 AM 8 8 8 9 8
02:00 AM 6 5 6 2 4
03:00 AM 0 1 1 3 1
04:00 AM 5 5 5 5 5
05:00 AM 4 7 6 7 6
06:00 AM 21 22 22 19 21
07:00 AM 54 53 54 29 45
08:00 AM 98 94 96 86 93
09:00 AM 126 143 135 150 140
10:00 AM 173 191 182 207 190
11:00 AM 285285 221221 253253 214214 240240
12:00 PM 261 268 265 230 253
01:00 PM 319319 257 288 252 276
02:00 PM 289 313313 301301 273273 292292
03:00 PM 284 304 294 260 283
04:00 PM 246 272 259 219 246
05:00 PM 261 285 273 187 244
06:00 PM 161 159 160 160 160
07:00 PM 123 136 130 149 136
08:00 PM 100 118 109 114 111
09:00 PM 74 67 71 78 73
10:00 PM 39 38 39 53 43
11:00 PM 18 28 23 21 22

Day TotalDay Total 2963 3003 2988 2737 2901

% Weekday
Average 99.2% 100.5%

% Week 
Average 102.1% 103.5% 103% 94.3%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
285

11:00 AM
221

11:00 AM
253

11:00 AM
214

11:00 AM
240

PM Peak 
Volume

1:00 PM
319

2:00 PM
313

2:00 PM
301

2:00 PM
273

2:00 PM
292

Comments:
Report generated on 7/26/2023 4:11 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

48



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW Oceanview Dr btwn NW 16th St & NW 15th St QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16278304
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: SB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Jul 20 2023 - Jul 22 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

20 Jul 23 21 Jul 23 22 Jul 23
12:00 AM 2 3 3 5 3
01:00 AM 3 3 3 5 4
02:00 AM 2 3 3 1 2
03:00 AM 0 0 0 2 1
04:00 AM 1 2 2 1 1
05:00 AM 3 5 4 4 4
06:00 AM 8 9 9 10 9
07:00 AM 26 23 25 6 18
08:00 AM 39 37 38 44 40
09:00 AM 53 59 56 64 59
10:00 AM 75 73 74 93 80
11:00 AM 121121 8787 104104 101101 103103
12:00 PM 114 126 120 107 116
01:00 PM 143143 111 127 97 117
02:00 PM 129 128128 129129 117 125125
03:00 PM 123 123 123 120120 122
04:00 PM 100 119 110 97 105
05:00 PM 108 103 106 82 98
06:00 PM 59 77 68 74 70
07:00 PM 51 62 57 67 60
08:00 PM 43 49 46 42 45
09:00 PM 35 30 33 42 36
10:00 PM 23 24 24 22 23
11:00 PM 10 18 14 15 14

Day TotalDay Total 1271 1274 1278 1218 1255

% Weekday
Average 99.5% 99.7%

% Week 
Average 101.3% 101.5% 101.8% 97.1%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
121

11:00 AM
87

11:00 AM
104

11:00 AM
101

11:00 AM
103

PM Peak 
Volume

1:00 PM
143

2:00 PM
128

2:00 PM
129

3:00 PM
120

2:00 PM
125

Comments:
Report generated on 7/26/2023 4:11 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

49



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW 15th St east of NW Oceanview Dr QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16278305
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: EB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Jul 20 2023 - Jul 22 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

20 Jul 23 21 Jul 23 22 Jul 23
12:00 AM 0 0 0 1 0
01:00 AM 0 0 0 1 0
02:00 AM 0 1 1 2 1
03:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0
04:00 AM 1 1 1 0 1
05:00 AM 1 1 1 1 1
06:00 AM 5 2 4 2 3
07:00 AM 6 10 8 9 8
08:00 AM 13 13 13 12 13
09:00 AM 16 18 17 28 21
10:00 AM 23 3030 27 3030 2828
11:00 AM 3333 24 2929 17 25
12:00 PM 31 3434 33 32 32
01:00 PM 3939 33 3636 27 33
02:00 PM 36 30 33 38 35
03:00 PM 34 32 33 4242 3636
04:00 PM 19 26 23 24 23
05:00 PM 27 21 24 24 24
06:00 PM 18 15 17 19 17
07:00 PM 11 16 14 19 15
08:00 PM 17 12 15 10 13
09:00 PM 12 15 14 11 13
10:00 PM 9 1 5 6 5
11:00 PM 0 4 2 0 1

Day TotalDay Total 351 339 350 355 348

% Weekday
Average 100.3% 96.9%

% Week 
Average 100.9% 97.4% 100.6% 102%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
33

10:00 AM
30

11:00 AM
29

10:00 AM
30

10:00 AM
28

PM Peak 
Volume

1:00 PM
39

12:00 PM
34

1:00 PM
36

3:00 PM
42

3:00 PM
36

Comments:
Report generated on 7/26/2023 4:11 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

50



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW 15th St east of NW Oceanview Dr QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16278305
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: EB, WB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Jul 20 2023 - Jul 22 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

20 Jul 23 21 Jul 23 22 Jul 23
12:00 AM 2 1 2 2 2
01:00 AM 1 0 1 1 1
02:00 AM 0 2 1 2 1
03:00 AM 0 0 0 1 0
04:00 AM 4 2 3 1 2
05:00 AM 1 2 2 2 2
06:00 AM 8 5 7 5 6
07:00 AM 16 21 19 18 18
08:00 AM 35 34 35 31 33
09:00 AM 47 46 47 61 51
10:00 AM 63 66 65 6969 6666
11:00 AM 8484 6767 7676 47 66
12:00 PM 88 94 91 72 85
01:00 PM 9898 85 92 73 85
02:00 PM 87 106106 9797 9494 9696
03:00 PM 95 94 95 89 93
04:00 PM 74 82 78 69 75
05:00 PM 80 89 85 57 75
06:00 PM 60 51 56 46 52
07:00 PM 34 30 32 37 34
08:00 PM 34 24 29 27 28
09:00 PM 23 28 26 21 24
10:00 PM 11 4 8 15 10
11:00 PM 2 9 6 6 6

Day TotalDay Total 947 942 953 846 911

% Weekday
Average 99.4% 98.8%

% Week 
Average 104% 103.4% 104.6% 92.9%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
84

11:00 AM
67

11:00 AM
76

10:00 AM
69

10:00 AM
66

PM Peak 
Volume

1:00 PM
98

2:00 PM
106

2:00 PM
97

2:00 PM
94

2:00 PM
96

Comments:
Report generated on 7/26/2023 4:11 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

51



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW 15th St east of NW Oceanview Dr QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16278305
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: WB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Jul 20 2023 - Jul 22 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

20 Jul 23 21 Jul 23 22 Jul 23
12:00 AM 2 1 2 1 1
01:00 AM 1 0 1 0 0
02:00 AM 0 1 1 0 0
03:00 AM 0 0 0 1 0
04:00 AM 3 1 2 1 2
05:00 AM 0 1 1 1 1
06:00 AM 3 3 3 3 3
07:00 AM 10 11 11 9 10
08:00 AM 22 21 22 19 21
09:00 AM 31 28 30 33 31
10:00 AM 40 36 38 3939 38
11:00 AM 5151 4343 4747 30 4141
12:00 PM 57 60 59 40 52
01:00 PM 59 52 56 46 52
02:00 PM 51 7676 6464 5656 6161
03:00 PM 6161 62 62 47 57
04:00 PM 55 56 56 45 52
05:00 PM 53 68 61 33 51
06:00 PM 42 36 39 27 35
07:00 PM 23 14 19 18 18
08:00 PM 17 12 15 17 15
09:00 PM 11 13 12 10 11
10:00 PM 2 3 3 9 5
11:00 PM 2 5 4 6 4

Day TotalDay Total 596 603 608 491 561

% Weekday
Average 98% 99.2%

% Week 
Average 106.2% 107.5% 108.4% 87.5%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
51

11:00 AM
43

11:00 AM
47

10:00 AM
39

11:00 AM
41

PM Peak 
Volume

3:00 PM
61

2:00 PM
76

2:00 PM
64

2:00 PM
56

2:00 PM
61

Comments:
Report generated on 7/26/2023 4:11 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

52



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW Oceanview Dr btwn NW 15th St & NW 14th St QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16278306
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: NB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Jul 20 2023 - Jul 22 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

20 Jul 23 21 Jul 23 22 Jul 23
12:00 AM 4 4 4 5 4
01:00 AM 3 5 4 4 4
02:00 AM 4 0 2 3 2
03:00 AM 0 1 1 0 0
04:00 AM 1 2 2 3 2
05:00 AM 0 1 1 3 1
06:00 AM 11 8 10 5 8
07:00 AM 22 25 24 21 23
08:00 AM 47 43 45 32 41
09:00 AM 54 63 59 67 61
10:00 AM 67 101101 84 9393 87
11:00 AM 122122 100 111111 90 104104
12:00 PM 108 100 104 97 102
01:00 PM 134134 108 121 115 119
02:00 PM 125 129 127127 130130 128128
03:00 PM 115 135135 125 115 122
04:00 PM 102 113 108 92 102
05:00 PM 111 114 113 91 105
06:00 PM 71 58 65 74 68
07:00 PM 58 62 60 77 66
08:00 PM 53 62 58 59 58
09:00 PM 38 31 35 35 35
10:00 PM 17 12 15 23 17
11:00 PM 6 7 7 5 6

Day TotalDay Total 1273 1284 1285 1239 1265

% Weekday
Average 99.1% 99.9%

% Week 
Average 100.6% 101.5% 101.6% 97.9%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
122

10:00 AM
101

11:00 AM
111

10:00 AM
93

11:00 AM
104

PM Peak 
Volume

1:00 PM
134

3:00 PM
135

2:00 PM
127

2:00 PM
130

2:00 PM
128

Comments:
Report generated on 7/26/2023 4:11 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

53



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW Oceanview Dr btwn NW 15th St & NW 14th St QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16278306
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: NB, SB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Jul 20 2023 - Jul 22 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

20 Jul 23 21 Jul 23 22 Jul 23
12:00 AM 6 7 7 10 8
01:00 AM 6 8 7 8 7
02:00 AM 6 2 4 3 4
03:00 AM 0 1 1 2 1
04:00 AM 1 2 2 5 3
05:00 AM 2 5 4 7 5
06:00 AM 17 14 16 11 14
07:00 AM 48 46 47 30 41
08:00 AM 84 74 79 71 76
09:00 AM 100 119 110 112 110
10:00 AM 129 165 147 175 156
11:00 AM 233233 170170 202202 176176 193193
12:00 PM 208 218 213 199 208
01:00 PM 252252 201 227 197 217
02:00 PM 237 236 237237 233233 235235
03:00 PM 227 247247 237 207 227
04:00 PM 199 219 209 175 198
05:00 PM 205 207 206 164 192
06:00 PM 124 126 125 153 134
07:00 PM 104 119 112 137 120
08:00 PM 92 105 99 98 98
09:00 PM 72 55 64 70 66
10:00 PM 33 34 34 43 37
11:00 PM 17 23 20 20 20

Day TotalDay Total 2402 2403 2409 2306 2370

% Weekday
Average 99.7% 99.8%

% Week 
Average 101.4% 101.4% 101.6% 97.3%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
233

11:00 AM
170

11:00 AM
202

11:00 AM
176

11:00 AM
193

PM Peak 
Volume

1:00 PM
252

3:00 PM
247

2:00 PM
237

2:00 PM
233

2:00 PM
235

Comments:
Report generated on 7/26/2023 4:11 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

54



24

Type of report: Tube Count - Volume Data

LOCATION: LOCATION: NW Oceanview Dr btwn NW 15th St & NW 14th St QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16278306
SPECIFIC LOCATION:SPECIFIC LOCATION: DIRECTION: DIRECTION: SB
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: Newport, OR DATE: DATE: Jul 20 2023 - Jul 22 2023

Start TimeStart Time
MonMon TueTue WedWed ThuThu FriFri Average Weekday Average Weekday 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
SatSat SunSun Average Week Average Week 

Hourly TrafficHourly Traffic
Average Week ProfileAverage Week Profile

20 Jul 23 21 Jul 23 22 Jul 23
12:00 AM 2 3 3 5 3
01:00 AM 3 3 3 4 3
02:00 AM 2 2 2 0 1
03:00 AM 0 0 0 2 1
04:00 AM 0 0 0 2 1
05:00 AM 2 4 3 4 3
06:00 AM 6 6 6 6 6
07:00 AM 26 21 24 9 19
08:00 AM 37 31 34 39 36
09:00 AM 46 56 51 45 49
10:00 AM 62 64 63 82 69
11:00 AM 111111 7070 9191 8686 8989
12:00 PM 100 118118 109 102 107107
01:00 PM 118118 93 106 82 98
02:00 PM 112 107 110 103103 107
03:00 PM 112 112 112112 92 105
04:00 PM 97 106 102 83 95
05:00 PM 94 93 94 73 87
06:00 PM 53 68 61 79 67
07:00 PM 46 57 52 60 54
08:00 PM 39 43 41 39 40
09:00 PM 34 24 29 35 31
10:00 PM 16 22 19 20 19
11:00 PM 11 16 14 15 14

Day TotalDay Total 1129 1119 1129 1067 1104

% Weekday
Average 100% 99.1%

% Week 
Average 102.3% 101.4% 102.3% 96.6%

AM Peak 
Volume

11:00 AM
111

11:00 AM
70

11:00 AM
91

11:00 AM
86

11:00 AM
89

PM Peak 
Volume

1:00 PM
118

12:00 PM
118

3:00 PM
112

2:00 PM
103

12:00 PM
107

Comments:
Report generated on 7/26/2023 4:11 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net)

55



January 11, 2024 Page 17 

Newport Oceanview Drive Assessment    

Kittelson & Associates, Inc.    

  

Appendix B 

56



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE

00301 N N N N N N 06/30/2020 17 21ST PL               
      

INTER   3-LEG  N Y RAIN FIX OBJ   01 NONE  9 STRGHT 062 16

CITY  TU 0 OCEANVIEW DR          
      

S NONE      N WET FIX     N/A  S -N 000 00

N 6A 05 0 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 39 8.05 -124 3 
24.36

UNK  

00578 N N N N 10/12/2019 17 OCEANVIEW DR          
      

INTER   4-LEG  N N CLR S-STRGHT  01 NONE  9 STRGHT 06

NO RPT SA 0 SPRING ST             
      

NE UNKNOWN   N DRY SS-O    N/A  NE-SW 031 00

N 11A 05 0 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 38 44.16 -124 3 
33.69

UNK  

02 NONE  9 STRGHT

N/A  NE-SW 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

00517 N N N N N N 09/11/2019 17 OCEANVIEW DR          
      

CURVE   N N CLR O-STRGHT  01 NONE  9 STRGHT 05,27

CITY  WE 50 SPRING ST             
      

NE (NONE) NONE      N DRY SS-M    N/A  SW-NE 088 00

Y 3P 06 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 38 44.95 -124 3 
32.58

(02) UNK  

02 NONE  9 STRGHT

N/A  NE-SW 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

00653 N N N N N N 11/16/2019 19 OCEANVIEW DR          
      

INTER   CROSS  N N CLR ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  9 STRGHT 02

CITY  SA 0 15TH ST               
      

CN UNKNOWN   N DRY ANGL    N/A  S -N 000 00

N 5P 04 0 N DUSK PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 38 53.78 -124 3 
26.78

UNK  

02 NONE  9 STRGHT

N/A  W -E 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

00679 Y Y N N N N 12/24/2020 17 NW OCEANVIEW DR       
      

INTER   3-LEG  N Y RAIN FIX OBJ   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 079,010 16,30

CITY  TH 0 NW 19TH ST            
      

N STOP SIGN N WET FIX     PRVTE N -S 000 079,010 00

N 12A 06 0 N DARK INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJC 30 M NONE 016,050,081 025 16,30

N 44 39 3.39 -124 3 
23.4

OR<25

00323 N Y N N N N 05/26/2017 17 NW OCEANVIEW DR       
      

STRGHT  N Y CLR S-STRGHT  01 NONE  9 STRGHT 33,06

CITY  FR 50 NW 19TH ST            
      

N (NONE) UNKNOWN   N DRY SS-O    N/A  S -N 031 00

N 3P 07 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 39 4.08 -124 3 
23.64

(02) UNK  

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

OCEANVIEW DR and Intersectional Crashes at OCEANVIEW DR, City of Newport, Lincoln County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

10/12/2023

CDS380 Page: 1

CITY OF NEWPORT, LINCOLN COUNTY

1 - 5 of   12 Crash records shown.

57



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE
02 NONE  9 STOP  

N/A  S -N 011 00

TRUCK     01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

00582 N N N N N N 09/21/2021 17 NW OCEANVIEW DR       
      

STRGHT  N Y CLR S-STRGHT  01 NONE  9 STRGHT 07

CITY  TU 50 NW 20TH ST            
      

N (NONE) NONE      N DRY REAR    N/A  N -S 000 00

Y 12A 06 N DLIT PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 39 5.84 -124 3 
24.27

(02) UNK  

02 NONE  9 STRGHT

N/A  N -S 006 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

00090 N N N N N N 02/16/2021 17 OCEANVIEW DR          
      

INTER   CROSS  N N RAIN ANGL-OTH  01 NONE  9 TURN-L 40,02

CITY  TU 0 22ND ST               
      

CN STOP SIGN N WET TURN    N/A  E -S 015 00

N 1P 02 0 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 39 9.75 -124 3 
24.01

UNK  

02 NONE  9 STRGHT

N/A  S -N 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

00160 Y N N N 04/02/2018 17 OCEANVIEW DR          
      

ALLEY   N N CLR OVERTURN  01 NONE  0 STRGHT 124,013 01

CITY  MO 1025 25TH ST               
      

N (NONE) NONE      N DRY NCOL    PRVTE N -S 022 124,013 00

N 5P 03 N DAY INJ MTRCYCLE  01 DRVR INJB 24 M OR-Y 047 000 01

N 44 39 30.53 -124 3 
22.63

(02) OR<25

02 NONE  0 STOP  

PRVTE N -S 012 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 45 M OTH-Y 000 000 00

N-RES

00600 N N N N N N 11/01/2020 17 OCEANVIEW DR          
      

GRADE   N Y CLR FIX OBJ   01 NONE  0 STRGHT 092,079 26

CITY  SU 200 25TH ST               
      

N (NONE) NONE      N DRY FIX     PRVTE S -N 007 092,079 26

Y 3P 08 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR INJB 31 M NONE 080,081 000 00

N 44 39 22.82 -124 3 
21.45

(02) OR>25

00072 N N N N Y 01/26/2017 17 OCEANVIEW DR          
      

GRADE   N Y CLD PED       01 NONE  0 STRGHT 32

CITY  TH 690 25TH ST               
      

N (NONE) TEMP-BARR N DRY PED     PRVTE S -N 000 00

Y 3P 07 N DAY INJ PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 75 M OR-Y 052 088 32

N 44 39 28.41 -124 3 
22.06

(02) OR>25

-

STRGHT 01 PED INJC 44 M SHLDR  
  

000 046 00

S N 

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

OCEANVIEW DR and Intersectional Crashes at OCEANVIEW DR, City of Newport, Lincoln County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

10/12/2023

CDS380 Page: 3

CITY OF NEWPORT, LINCOLN COUNTY

6 - 11 of   12 Crash records shown.

58



S D M

SER# P R J S W DATE CLASS CITY STREET INT-TYPE SPCL USE

INVEST E A U I C O DAY DIST FIRST STREET RD CHAR (MEDIAN) INT-REL OFFRD WTHR CRASH TRLR QTY MOVE A S

RD DPT E L G N H R TIME FROM SECOND STREET DIRECT LEGS TRAF- RNDBT SURF COLL OWNER FROM PRTC INJ G E LICNS PED

UNLOC? D C S V L K LAT LONG LRS LOCTN (#LANES) CONTL DRVWY LIGHT SVRTY V# TYPE TO P# TYPE SVRTY E X RES LOC ERROR ACT EVENT CAUSE

00409 Y N N N 08/01/2019 17 NW OCEANVIEW DR       
      

GRADE   N N CLR O-STRGHT  01 NONE  9 STRGHT 129 01,05

NO RPT TH 100 N 12TH ST             
      

NE (NONE) UNKNOWN   N DRY SS-M    N/A  NE-SW 088 00

Y 11A 07 N DAY PDO PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

N 44 38 45.23 -124 3 
31.77

(02) UNK  

02 NONE  9 STRGHT

N/A  SW-NE 000 00

PSNGR CAR 01 DRVR NONE 00 Unk UNK  000 000 00

UNK  

Disclaimer: The information contained in this report is compiled from individual driver and police crash reports submitted to the Oregon Department of Transportation as required in ORS 811.720. The Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit is committed to providing the highest quality crash data to customers. However, because submittal of crash report forms is 
the responsibility of the individual driver, the Crash Analysis and Reporting Unit can not guarantee that all qualifying crashes are represented nor can assurances be made that all details pertaining to a single crash are accurate. Note: Legislative changes to DMV's vehicle crash reporting requirement, effective 01/01/2004, may result in fewer property 
damage only crashes being eligible for inclusion in the Statewide Crash Data File.

OREGON.. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION - TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TRANSPORTATION DATA SECTION - CRASH ANAYLYSIS AND REPORTING UNIT

URBAN NON-SYSTEM CRASH LISTING

OCEANVIEW DR and Intersectional Crashes at OCEANVIEW DR, City of Newport, Lincoln County, 01/01/2017 to 12/31/2021

10/12/2023

CDS380 Page: 5

CITY OF NEWPORT, LINCOLN COUNTY

12 - 12 of   12 Crash records shown.

59



January 11, 2024 Page 19 

Newport Oceanview Drive Assessment    

Kittelson & Associates, Inc.    

Appendix C 

60



Multi-Way Stop Application Criteria

Based on Section 2B.07 of the 2009 MUTCD

Project #:

Project Name:

Analyst:

Intersection:

Data Date:

Scenario:

85th Percentile Speed on Major Road> 40mph? No

Factor (based on speed) 100%

MUTCD Criteria Met?

No

MUTCD Criteria Assessment

A. Is a signal justified? (see separate spreadsheet for signal warrant analysis)

No

Criteria Met? No

# crashes 1

Criteria Met? No

C. Minimum Volumes

     1. Is the major road approach volume (total of both) at least 300 vph for min 8 hours? and

     2. Are the combined ped, bike, and veh volume on minor approach (total of both) at least 200 units per hour for the same 8 hours as criteria C.1? and

           Is the average delay to minor-street vehicular traffic at least 30 seconds per vehicle during the highest hour?

8.7

No

     3. If the 85th percentile speed on the major road exceeds 40 mph, do volumes meet 70% of the values in C-1 and C-2?

FALSE

Criteria Met? No

D. If no previous criteria are met, are criteria B, C.1, and C.2 all satisfied to 80 percent of the minimum values?

Criteria Met? No

Volume Data:

Time Period From To

Major Road:  

Both App.

Minor Road:  

Both App. 

(ped, bike, & 

veh) C.1 C.2

C.1 and 

C.2 Met? C.1 C.2

C.1 and 

C.2 Met? C.1 C.2

C.1 and 

C.2 Met?

1 0:00 1:00 7 2 No No No No No No No No No

2 1:00 2:00 7 1 No No No No No No No No No

3 2:00 3:00 5 1 No No No No No No No No No

4 3:00 4:00 1 0 No No No No No No No No No

5 4:00 5:00 4 2 No No No No No No No No No

6 5:00 6:00 5 1 No No No No No No No No No

7 6:00 7:00 19 3 No No No No No No No No No

8 7:00 8:00 49 11 No No No No No No No No No

9 8:00 9:00 83 22 No No No No No No No No No

10 9:00 10:00 115 30 No No No No No No No No No

11 10:00 11:00 158 38 No No No No No No No No No

12 11:00 12:00 215 47 No No No Yes No No No No No

13 12:00 13:00 224 59 No No No Yes No No No No No

14 13:00 14:00 248 56 No No No Yes No No Yes No No

15 14:00 15:00 256 64 No No No Yes No No Yes No No

16 15:00 16:00 248 62 No No No Yes No No Yes No No

17 16:00 17:00 218 56 No No No Yes No No No No No

18 17:00 18:00 219 61 No No No Yes No No No No No

19 18:00 19:00 133 39 No No No No No No No No No

20 19:00 20:00 117 19 No No No No No No No No No

21 20:00 21:00 104 15 No No No No No No No No No

22 21:00 22:00 68 12 No No No No No No No No No

23 22:00 23:00 39 3 No No No No No No No No No

24 23:00 0:00 21 4 No No No No No No No No No

28305

Oceanview Drive

jxh

Oceanview Drive and NW 15th Street

6/26/2023

Average delay to minor-street vehicular traffic during the highest hour (seconds)

70% (Criteria C.3)

Existing Volumes

80% (Criteria D)

B. Is the number of reported crashes in a 12 month period  that are susceptible to correction by a multi-way stop installation five or more? 

Such crashes include right-turn and left-turn collisions as well as right-angle collisions.

61



DATE 1/16/2024

OCEANVIEW DRIVE 
OPERATIONS AND 
SAFETY ASSESSMENT
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION

62



Study Area

63



Assessment

• Collected Updated Peak Summer Traffic Counts

• Crash Data Assessment

• Sight Distance Assessment

• All-Way Stop Assessment

• Speed Assessment and Mitigations

• Agate Beach Crossing Assessment

64



NW Oceanview Drive
Corridor Characteristics

NW Oceanview Drive 

Corridor Segment

Functional Classification/

Designation

Number 

of Travel 

Lanes

Travel 

Way 

Width Sidewalks

Bicycle 

Lanes

Posted 

Speed
Agate Beach State 

Wayside Driveway 

to

NW 25th Street

-Neighborhood Collector

-Major Bicycle Corridor

-Major Pedestrian Corridor

2 20’± None

Shared 

Lane 

Markings

35

NW 25th Street 

to

NW Edenview Way

-Neighborhood Collector

-Major Bicycle Corridor

-Major Pedestrian Corridor

2 20’± None

Shared 

Lane 

Markings

35

NW Edenview Way

to

NW 22nd Street

-Neighborhood Collector

-Major Bicycle Corridor

-Major Pedestrian Corridor

2 20’± None

Shared 

Lane 

Markings

25

NW 22nd Street 

to 

NW 17th Street

-Neighborhood Collector

-Major Bicycle Corridor

-Major Pedestrian Corridor

2 20’± None

Shared 

Lane 

Markings

25

NW 17th Street 

to 

NW 15th Street

-Neighborhood Collector

-Neighborhood Bicycle Corridor

-Local Pedestrian Street

2 20’± None

Shared 

Lane 

Markings

25
65



Crash Data

• Low number of 

crashes

• No clustering 

of crashes

• No repeating 

patterns

66



Sight Distance Limitations

• NW Oceanview Drive/

NW 15th Street

• NW Oceanview Drive/

NW 16th Street

• NW Oceanview Drive/

NW 17th Street

• NW Oceanview Drive/

NW 22nd Street

67



All-Way Stop at Oceanview/15th St

• Only one reported crash 
in last five years.

• Existing sight distance 
limitations are correctable 
with traffic control.

• Traffic volumes on all 
approach are not high 
enough.

Conclusion: 
All-way stop not warranted

68



Oceanview Drive Speed Assessment

• Existing Posted (Designated) Speed = 35mph

• Measured Speed = 39mph (85th percentile)

• Contributing factors:

– Long straightaways

– Less severe vertical changes

– Rural feel

69



Speed Reduction Measures
Traversable Rumble 

Strips

Speed 

Feedback Sign

Speed Reduction 

Markings

Source: FHWA Small Town and Rural Multimodal Networks 
70



Agate Beach Crossing

71



Agate Beach Crossing Improvements

Warning 

Plaque

Advanced 

Notice

72



Local Lodging Tax 
Administration (LLX)

Tera Lum

Tyler Skidmore

Marcus Cridge

73



In 2017 the legislature passed 
House Bill 2400. 

HB2400 amends ORS 305.620 
allowing units of local 
government to enter into an 
agreement to allow DOR to 
administer their local lodging 
taxes. 

https://olis.oregonlegislature.gov/liz/2017R1/Measures
/Overview/HB2400

74



Getting Started
Before we consider your 
local government for LLX, 
we need to verify your 
local municipal codes 
line up with ORS 320.300 
– 320.365 and OAR150-
320.0040 – 150-
320.0365)

75



Onboarding documents 
we provide

76



Administrative Cost

DOR’s cost for administration is $10.00 per 
quarterly return filed with a property in your 
jurisdiction. 
This cost will be reevaluated quarterly. 

77



What we provide under 
LLX administration

• Audit,
• Collection,
• Customer education,  
• Filing enforcement,
• Payments options, 
• Revenue Online (ROL) filing 

assistance,
• Quarterly activity reports,
• Quarterly distribution of 

local taxes.

78



Customer & Facility Notification

It is important you notify short-term rental 
facilities in your jurisdiction about DOR 
administering your lodging taxes. 
Oregon Department of Revenue : Transient 
Lodging Tax : Businesses : State of Oregon
Here they will find: 
• List of local administration. 
• Filing and paying instructions. 
• Contact information.  

79

https://www.oregon.gov/dor/programs/businesses/Pages/lodging.aspx


Distribution of funds and 
quarterly reports

Quarterly filing due dates

Quarter Quarter ending date Due date Distribution date
1st – (Jan, Feb, March) March 31 April 30 4th business day in July
2nd –(April, May, June) June 30 July 31 4th business day in October
3rd – (July, Aug, Sept) September 30 October 31 4th business day in January
4th – (Oct, Nov, Dec) December 31 January 31 4th business day in April

80



Reporting parameter 
• Net Receipts. 
• DOR Administrative Fee.
• Dollars directed to local government.
Return Information
• Original returns. 
• Taxpayers filing for the quarter.
• Returns amended. 
• Failures to file assessments set up.
• Audits or adjustments performed.
Demographic Information
• By facility type. 
• By operatory type
Local Tax Information
• Gross receipts.
• Exemptions claimed.
• Net Taxable Receipts.
• Local tax reported.
• Tax deficiency/unpaid tax.
• Penalty and interest.
• Audit payments. 81



Questions? 
dor_dl_buslocallodgingadministration@dor.oregon.gov

82



Oregon
Department of Revenue

150-604-008 (Rev. 04-07-23)

Local Lodging 
Administration 

User Guide

83



1

Table of contents
 Page

Introduction .............................................................................................................................................2

Getting started .........................................................................................................................................2

Administration ........................................................................................................................................2

Frequently asked questions ...................................................................................................................4

Sample quarterly report .........................................................................................................................5

Local ordinance model ...........................................................................................................................6

Intergovernmental agreement (IGA)   ...............................................................................................13

Resources ...............................................................................................................................................23

84



2

Introduction

In 2017, the Oregon Legislature passed House Bill (HB) 
2400 allowing local governments the ability to enter into 
an agreement with the Oregon Department of Revenue 
(DOR) for the purpose of administering local transient 
lodging taxes. This House Bill was adopted into Oregon 
Revised Statute (ORS) 320.365.

If your city or county does not currently impose a tran-
sient lodging tax, you may find the League of Oregon 
Cities to be a good resource (orcities.org). They offer a 
guide to collecting lodging tax in Oregon that can be 
useful in starting the process. Find their Legal Guide to 
Collecting Transient Lodging Tax in Oregon in their refer-
ence library: www.orcities.org/resources/reference/
reference-library.

Getting started

Cost of DOR administration

DOR’s current cost for administration is $10.00 per 
quarterly return filed with a property in your juris-
diction. This fee also applies to amended returns and 
failure-to-file assessments (a tax assessed by DOR if 
the taxpayer does not file themselves). This cost will be 
reevaluated quarterly. If this fee changes, participants 
will be notified.

Local ordinance review

The first step to having DOR administer your local tran-
sient lodging tax is aligning your local transient lodging 
tax ordinances with the Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) 
and Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) that govern 
lodging tax on the state level. For reference, those are 
ORS 320.300 through 320.365 and OAR 150-320-0040 
through 150-320-0365. 

We highly recommend reviewing the Intergovernmental 
Agreement (IGA) prior to making ordinance changes 
to ensure the contract terms, including the timing of 
distributions and reporting, are agreeable to you. 
You can find a copy of the IGA on page 13 of this 
document.

Some examples of things that may need to be adjusted 
to match those statutes and rules are exemptions, 
filing frequency and due dates, to name just a few. A 
model ordinance is provided on page 6 for reference.

If you believe your ordinance meets the 
requirements outlined above or if you need 
assistance, please send a copy or a link to your 
ordinance to:

dor_dl_buslocallodgingadministration@dor.oregon.gov

The subject line should read: TLT ordinance review–(Local 
Government name). 

150-604-008 (Rev. 04-07-23)

Please also provide a direct contact person if further 
follow-up is needed. DOR will notify you if any changes 
are needed to your ordinance or if it has been approved 
for the next steps.

Onboarding documents

• Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA)
• Secrecy certificate
• Transient lodging tax program information form

The next step after your ordinance has been approved, 
is to complete the DOR onboarding forms, including 
the IGA. 

A signed secrecy certificate is required for every indi-
vidual that will have access to taxpayer information 
DOR provides. This ensures everyone understands the 
confidentiality laws and the penalties for violating them. 
This secrecy certificate will need to be renewed annu-
ally for everyone that has access. DOR staff will reach 
out prior to the certificate expiration date to facilitate 
renewal of those secrecy certificates. This will typically 
occur each February. 

Additionally, DOR will need a completed transient lodg-
ing tax program information form. This form provides 
DOR with your contact information as well as infor-
mation on how you would like your quarterly funds 
distributed.

You can return these completed forms to:
dor_dl_buslocallodgingadministration @ dor.oregon.gov

Once those documents are received, DOR will begin the 
process of registering your local government for local 
lodging tax administration. Upon completion, DOR will 
send you the fully executed IGA, which will confirm you 
are officially registered. 

As part of the registration process, DOR will add your 
local government to the local lodging tax administration 
page. This is the only way DOR will notify taxpayers 
of the change in administration. It is the participants 
responsibility to notify their taxpayer base of the change. 
Please do not notify your taxpayers of the change in 
administration until you have received confirmation 
that you are officially registered. 

Administration

Transition to DOR administration 

Once registration is complete, DOR will provide full tax 
administration. This includes processing returns, accept-
ing payments, answering taxpayer questions, as well as 
performing filing enforcement, audit, and collections 
activities. Additional details on these activities can be 
found on page 4 in the Frequently asked questions section 
of this document.

85



3

DOR’s administration will begin on the first day of the 
new quarter after registration of your local government. 
We ask that you notify all short-term rental facilities in 
your jurisdiction about DOR administering your lodging 
taxes as soon as possible after registration is confirmed. 
If you have a website, we encourage you to add informa-
tion about the transition to DOR administration on your 
lodging tax page. 

DOR can provide you with both a phone number and 
an email to give to your taxpayers if they have questions 
about the transition or the filing process. We can also 
provide written filing instructions that can be provided 
at the time you notify your taxpayers.  

Within 60 days of registration, DOR asks that partici-
pants provide a list of all zip codes within their taxing 
area and when possible, a list of all known short-term 
rental addresses subject to your tax. Additionally, DOR 
also asks to be notified quarterly of any new short-term 
rental properties in your area. Conversely, DOR will 
notify participants of any new filers in their jurisdic-
tion by email at the same time the quarterly report is 
provided. 

Return filing process

DOR requires transient lodging tax returns to be filed 
quarterly. Returns and payments are due on the last day 
of the month following the end of the quarter unless 
the due date lands on a weekend or holiday. In those 
instances, the due date is pushed to the following busi-
ness day. See the following quarterly filing due dates 
table below for more details. See also ORS 320.315 and 
ORS 320.360 for rules related to filing and paying state 
and local lodging taxes.

Quarterly filing due dates

Quarter Quarter 
ending date Due date Distribution date

1st – Jan, Feb, 
        March March 31 April 30 4th business day 

in July
2nd –April, 
        May, June June 30 July 31 4th business day 

in October
3rd – July, Aug, 
         Sept September 30 October 31 4th business day 

in January
4th – Oct, Nov, 
        Dec December 31 January 31 4th business day 

in April

Taxpayers not required to file

DOR does not require lodging providers that rent their 
facility less than 30 calendar days a year to file. Addi-
tionally, if a lodging provider exclusively uses a transient 
lodging intermediary (TLI) that collects and remits tax 
on their behalf, DOR does not require them to file.

A full list of transient lodging tax exemptions can be 
found under ORS 320.308 and ORS 320.357 as well as 
OAR 150-320-0500. 

Distribution of funds

Transient lodging taxes collected by DOR for local gov-
ernments shall be distributed to the local government 
on a quarterly basis. Distributions will be made 60-65 
days after the quarterly filing due date. These distribu-
tions will be made by either ACH to a checking/sav-
ings account or to a local government investment pool, 
whichever option was selected during the onboarding 
process.

Reporting

Each local government participant will receive a quar-
terly report to show activity related to the previous filing 
period. The quarterly report will be provided approxi-
mately 7-10 business days after the quarterly distribu-
tion. The reports will include information such as total 
returns filed, gross receipts, and tax calculated during 
the revenue reporting period. An example of the quar-
terly report can be found on page 8 of this document.

86



4

Frequently asked questions
How quickly can DOR begin to administer our tax?
Administration can begin the first day of the quarter 
after you receive confirmation from DOR that you are 
registered. For example, if you are officially registered on 
December 15th, 2022 (4th quarter, 2022), administration 
can begin January 1st, 2023 (1st quarter, 2023). 

What is the cost for DOR to administer our transient 
lodging taxes?
The fee is based on the number of quarterly returns 
filed that include facilities within your jurisdiction. The 
current rate is $10.00 per quarterly return. This rate is 
reviewed quarterly and subject to change if the cost to 
DOR for administering local taxes changes.  

Who is responsible for notifying local taxpayers if we 
opt for DOR to administer our local tax? 
Each jurisdiction will be responsible for notifying their 
taxpayer base regarding DOR taking over the adminis-
tration of the local tax. DOR can supply contact infor-
mation and instructions to help their taxpayers with the 
transition. Additionally, DOR will update the transient 
lodging administration webpage to include your city 
and county to the list of localities DOR administers 
taxes for.

How does DOR handle taxpayers that do not file and/
or pay as required?
For taxpayers that have a filing history, DOR’s tax 
administration software automatically identifies non-
filers and issues demand to file letters when a tax filing 
is 30 days past due. 

If the taxpayer does not respond, DOR will create a 
failure-to-file return and assesses a tax due based on the 
best available information (such as prior filings). The 
taxpayer is also assessed penalties and interest. 

DOR staff also work filing enforcement leads for lodging 
establishments that have no filing history. These leads 
are generated through various sources, including lodg-
ing establishment sales and transfers, full city/county 
establishment searches, travel guides, etc. Once DOR 
identifies a taxpayer that should be filing but is not, 
DOR will follow the steps listed above –issue a demand 
to file letter and assess tax, penalty, and interest if no 
response is received.

If a taxpayer does not pay, DOR has a collections team 
that will attempt to recover the debt using several col-
lection methods including liens and garnishment in 
severe cases.

Are penalties and interest charged on late returns 
and/or payments?
Yes, penalties and interest are charged based on the 
unpaid tax due. Localities will receive funds from pen-
alty and interest collected proportionate to their tax rate.  
Penalties and interest are assessed as described:

• There is a 5% failure-to-pay penalty if the tax due is 
not paid by the due date of the return.

• If a return is filed more than 30 days after the due date, 
there is a 20% failure-to-file penalty assessed.

• Both the above penalties can be applied making a total 
of a 25% penalty

• There is an additional 25% failure-to-file a return pen-
alty applied if DOR must create a tax assessment for 
the period, making a total penalty of 50%

• There is a 100% failure-to-file penalty if no return is 
filed for 12 consecutive quarters

• Interest is also imposed on any unpaid tax from the 
due date until the date when payment is made in full

Are audits performed to ensure that taxes are being 
reported correctly?
DOR performs in-depth audits of various lodging 
establishments to determine if they are correctly 
reporting their tax liability. This includes examining all 
financial records, sales reports, bank statements, and 
other relevant records to verify taxable lodging sales, 
and substantiate all exempt sales claimed. Audits are 
selected through a variety of methods, including random 
selection.

Any adjustments made for the purpose of an Oregon 
Lodging Tax audit will be applied to local lodging 
returns administered by the department and the appli-
cable local tax percent used to determine tax due for 
that locality.

Will we get a list of facilities that are non-compliant 
with their lodging taxes?
Our standard report includes amounts that have moved 
to the collections process, but we do not provide account 
or address level detail on non-compliant taxpayers. The 
quarterly reports contain high-level summarized detail 
related to the quarterly distributions.

Will we be able to request special reports?
Please see the sample report provided on page 8 to 
review items included on the quarterly reports that DOR 
will provide. DOR is not able to offer specialized reports. 
Any future enhancements made to these reports will be 
to the benefit of all in the program.

Does DOR have a licensing requirement for short-
term rental providers?
DOR does not have a licensing requirement for short-
term rental providers. Additionally, there is no formal 
registration process required to file and remit transient 
lodging taxes. DOR’s online filing system will allow new 
filers to identify they are first-time filer, and the system 
will automatically register the filer for a transient lodg-
ing tax account.

DOR will notify participants of any new filers in their 
jurisdiction by email at the same time the quarterly 
report is provided.

87



5

Sample quarterly report

88



6

Model Transient Lodging Tax Ordinance
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF [enter name] IMPLEMENTING A [enter percent] 

TRANSIENT LODGING TAX  

WHEREAS, a local transient lodging tax is a tax imposed by a local government on the sale, service or furnishing 
of transient lodging;

WHEREAS, transient lodging includes hotel, motel and inn dwelling units that are used for temporary overnight 
human occupancy; spaces used for parking recreational vehicles or erecting tents during periods of human occu-
pancy; or houses, cabins, condominiums, apartment units or other dwelling units, or portions of any of these dwelling 
units, that are used for temporary human occupancy;

WHEREAS, ORS 320.350 provides that a city council may impose a new local transient lodging tax if at least seventy 
percent (70%) of the net revenue shall be used to fund tourism promotion or tourism-related facilities or certain 
debt-related expenses and no more than thirty percent (30%) of net revenue may be used for city services; and

WHEREAS, the city wishes to require any person other than a transient lodging provider that facilitates the retail 
sale of transient lodging and: charges for occupancy of the transient lodging; collects the consideration charged for 
occupancy of the transient lodging; or receives a fee or commission and requires the transient lodging provider to 
use a specified third-party entity to collect the consideration charged for occupancy of the transient lodging and 
remitting the tax to the city; and 

WHEREAS, the city council wants to impose a [enter percent] transient lodging tax.

NOW THEREFORE, BASED ON THE FOREGOING, THE CITY OF [enter name] ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS:

Chapter [enter chapter number] is hereby added to the [enter name of city] municipal code as follows:

Section 1:   DEFINITIONS

The following definitions apply in this chapter.

A. Transient Lodging Provider means a person that furnishes transient lodging.

B. Transient Lodging Intermediary means a person other than a transient lodging provider that facilitates the retail 
sale of transient lodging and:

 a.  Charges for occupancy of the transient lodging;
 b.  Collects the consideration charged for occupancy of the transient lodging; or
 c.  Receives a fee or commission and requires the transient lodging provider to use a specified third-party entity 

to collect the consideration charged for occupancy of the transient lodging.

C. Transient Lodging Tax Collector means a transient lodging provider or transient lodging intermediary. 

D. Occupancy means the right to the use or possession of any space in transient lodging for dwelling, lodging, or 
sleeping purposes for less than 30 days.

E. Occupant means any individual who exercises occupancy or is entitled to occupancy in transient lodging for a 
period of 30 consecutive calendar days or less, counting portions of calendar days as full days. 

F. Person means any individual, firm, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, corporation, limited 
liability partnership, association, host, social club, fraternal organization, fraternity, sorority, public or private 
dormitory, joint stock company, estate, trust, business trust, receiver, trustee, syndicate, or any other group or 
combination acting as a unit.

G. Rent means the consideration paid or payable by an occupant for the occupancy of space in transient lodging 
valued in money, goods, labor, credits, property, or other consideration.  If a separate fee is charged for services, 
goods or commodities and the fee is optional, that fee is not included in rent.

H. Short-Term Rental means a house, duplex, multi-plex, apartment, condominium, houseboat, trailer or other resi-
dential dwelling unit where a person rents a guest bedroom or the entire residential dwelling unit for transient 
lodging occupancy.  Generally, a short-term rental is zoned residential or has a building occupancy that only 
allows for residential use.

89



7

I. Short-Term Rental Hosting Platform means a business or other person that facilitates the retail sale of transient 
lodging by connecting occupants with transient lodging providers, either online or in any other manner.  Short-
term rental hosting platforms are transient lodging intermediaries.

J. Tax Administrator means the [enter finance director or other position] of the City of [enter city], or its designee, 
which may include the Oregon Department of Revenue.  If the city utilizes the Oregon Department of Revenue as 
its tax administrator, it will comply with ORS 305.620 in that it will follow the rules adopted by the Department 
of Revenue regarding the administration, collection, enforcement, and distribution of transient lodging taxes.1  

K. Transient Lodging or Transient Lodging Facilities means:

 a. Hotel, motel, and inn dwelling units that are used for temporary overnight human occupancy;
 b. Spaces used for overnight parking of recreational vehicles or placement of tents during periods of human 

occupancy; or
 c. Houses, cabins, condominiums, apartment units or other dwelling units, or portions of any of these dwelling 

units that are used for temporary human occupancy.

L. TLT or tax means the transient lodging tax.

Section 2: TAX IMPOSED

A. Effective [date], each occupant shall pay a TLT in the amount of [tax rate] percent of the rent.  The occupant 
shall pay the TLT with the rent to the transient lodging tax collector.  TLT amounts shall be rounded down to 
the nearest cent. The transient lodging tax collector shall maintain records of all rent charged and TLT payments 
received.  If rent is paid in installments, a proportionate share of the TLT shall be paid by the occupant to the 
transient lodging tax collector with each installment unless the occupant pays the entire amount with the first 
payment.

B. Bills, receipts or invoices provided to occupants shall list the TLT separately and must accurately state the amount 
of tax.  All amounts listed as TLT on invoices, bills or receipts must be reported as TLT and, after collection, must 
be turned over to the city, less the [PERCENT2] percent administrative charge.

Section 3: COLLECTION OF TAX BY TRANSIENT LODGING TAX COLLECTOR

A. Every transient lodging tax collector shall collect the TLT at the time rent is paid, unless an exemption applies.  
If payment is by credit card, for purposes of this section, payment is made at the time credit card information is 
provided to the transient lodging tax collector, not when the transient lodging tax collector ultimately receives 
credit for the transaction.  While holding the payment in trust for the city, a transient lodging tax collector may 
commingle the tax proceeds with the transient lodging tax collector’s funds, but the transient lodging tax collector 
is not the owner of tax proceeds, except that, when a return is filed, the transient lodging tax collector becomes 
the owner of the administrative fee authorized to be retained.  Transient lodging tax collectors may choose to file 
returns and remit payment based on amounts accrued but not yet collected. The transient lodging tax collector 
is liable for any TLT that should have been collected from the occupant, except in cases of nonpayment of rent 
by the occupant.

B. Upon request of the city, transient lodging tax collectors must provide all physical addresses of transient lodging 
facilities within the city limits and the related contact information, including the name and mailing address, of 
the general manager, agent, owner, host or other responsible person for the location.  

Section 4: SHORT-TERM RENTAL HOSTING PLATFORM FEES

A hosting platform for short-term rentals may collect a fee for booking services in connection with short-term rent-
als only when those short-term rentals are lawfully registered as operators with the city and possess a certificate of 
authority at the time the short-term rental is occupied.

1 Cities who choose to use the Oregon Department of Revenue should be aware that in doing so, they agree to comply with any rules ad-
opted by the Department of Revenue regarding the administration, collection, enforcement and distribution of transient lodging taxes, even 
if those rules may differ from their own desired local processes and rules. Cities are encouraged to consult with legal counsel to understand 
the benefits and drawbacks of using a tax administrator who is not a city official.

2 For new or increased TLTs, the administration fee cannot be less than 5%.  See ORS 320.345

90



8

Section 5: LIABILITY FOR TAX

Transient lodging providers who receive any portion of the rent for transient lodging and transient lodging inter-
mediaries that provide booking service are both transient lodging tax collectors and are jointly and severally liable 
for the tax. 

Section 6: EXEMPTIONS3 

No TLT shall be imposed upon:

A. A dwelling unit in a hospital, health care facility, long-term care facility or any other residential facility that is 
licensed, registered or certified by the Oregon Department of Human Services or the Oregon Health Authority;

B. A dwelling unit in a facility providing treatment for drug or alcohol abuse or providing mental health treatment;

C. A dwelling unit that is used by members of the general public for temporary human occupancy for fewer than 
30 days per year;

D. A dwelling unit, the consideration for which is funded through a contract with a government agency and the 
purpose of which is to provide emergency or temporary shelter;

E. A dwelling unit at a nonprofit youth or church camp, nonprofit conference center or other nonprofit facility; or

F. A dwelling unit that is leased or otherwise occupied by the same person for a consecutive period of 30 days or 
more during the year. The requirements of this subsection are satisfied even if the physical dwelling unit changes 
during the consecutive period, if:

 a. All dwelling units occupied are within the same facility; and
 b. The person paying consideration for the transient lodging is the same person throughout the consecutive 

period.

Section 7: REGISTRATION OF TRANSIENT LODGING PROVIDER , FORM AND CONTENTS,   
  EXECUTION, CERTIFICATION OF AUTHORITY

A. Every person engaging or about to engage in business as a transient lodging provider shall provide a completed 
registration form to the tax administrator within 15 calendar days after commencing business.  The registration 
form shall require the transient lodging provider to provide the name of the business, any separate business 
addresses, and other information as the tax administrator may require to implement this Chapter.  Transient lodg-
ing providers who own or operate transient lodging facilities in [CITY] shall provide the address of the lodging 
facility.  The registration form shall be signed by the transient lodging provider.  The tax administrator shall, 
within 15 days after registration, issue without charge a certificate of authority to collect the TLT.  The transient 
lodging provider’s obligation to collect the TLT is imposed once rent for transient lodging is paid, even if the 
registration form has not been filed or if the certificate has not been issued.  If the rent transaction is facilitated 
online, the certificate of authority must be able to be viewed by the occupant by clicking on a link to the certificate 
of authority at a reasonable place during the payment transaction. 

B. Certificates shall be non-assignable and non-transferable and shall be surrendered to the tax administrator when 
the business is sold or transferred or when a transient lodging facility ceases to operate at the location specified 
in the registration form.  Each certificate issued to a transient lodging provider for a specific lodging facility shall 
be prominently displayed at the lodging facility and include:

 a. The name of the transient lodging provider;
 b. The address of the transient lodging facility;
 c. The date the certificate was issued; and
 d. The certificate number as assigned by the tax administrator.4

Section 8: REMITTANCES AND RETURNS

A. Transient lodging tax collectors must submit a completed tax return form to the tax administrator on or before 
the last day of the month following the end of each calendar quarter, reporting the amount of tax due during the 

3 Under state law, exemptions are only applicable to the state tax, but most local jurisdictions choose to apply the exemptions to the local tax 
as well.

4 A certificate of authority should look something like a building permit or any city-issued permit.

91



9

quarter and accompanied by remittance of all tax collected, less a [five percent] administration fee.5  The return 
shall be filed in such form as the tax administrator may prescribe.  The tax administrator if they deem it neces-
sary in order to insure payment or facilitate collection by the City of the amount of taxes in any individual case, 
may require returns and payment of the amount of taxes on other than monthly periods.

B. The transient lodging tax collector is entitled to the administration fee.  If a transient lodging facility has multiple 
owners, they are not entitled to retain additional fees.   

C. Remittances are delinquent if not made by the last day of the month in which they are due.

D. Returns shall show the gross rents collected, taxable rents, the total amount of TLT collected and the amount of 
the administrative fee retained by the transient lodging tax collector.  Returns shall also show the exempt and 
excluded rents and the basis for exemptions and exclusions.

E. The person required to file the return shall deliver the return, together with payment of the amount of the tax 
due, to the tax administrator, to the appropriate office, either by personal delivery, by mail, or by electronic tax 
return filed through a reporting and payment portal furnished by the tax administrator, or its designee.  If the 
return is mailed, the postmark shall be considered the date of delivery.

F. The tax administrator may extend the time for making any return or remittance of the tax by up to 30 days.  No 
further extension shall be granted, except by the city council.  Any transient lodging tax collector to whom an 
extension is granted shall pay interest at the rate of [PERCENT] per month on the amount of the remittance due 
without proration for a fraction of a month.  If a return is not filed, and the remittance and interest due is not paid 
by the end of the extension granted, then the interest shall become a part of the tax for computation of penalties.

Section 9:  PENALTIES AND INTEREST

A. Interest shall be added to the overall tax amount due at the same rate established under ORS 305.220 for each 
month, or fraction of a month, from the time the return to the tax administrator was originally required to be 
filed to the time of payment. If a transient lodging tax collector fails to file a return or pay the tax as required, a 
penalty shall be imposed in the same manner and amount provided under ORS 314.400.

B. Every penalty imposed, and any interest that accrues, becomes a part of the financial obligation required to be 
paid and remitted to the tax administrator.

C. Taxes, interest, and penalties paid to the tax administrator under this section shall be distributed to the city’s 
{Name of Designated Fund}.

Section 10:  DEFICIENCY DETERMINATION – FRAUD, EVASION, LOCAL TAX TRUSTEE DELAY

A. Deficiency Determination. The tax administrator may review tax returns and adjust the amount due based on the 
information in the return, on information obtained during a review or audit of records, or on the basis of other 
evidence.  In the event of a deficiency, the tax administrator shall provide notice of the deficiency to the transient 
lodging tax collector, who shall remit deficiencies within 10 business days of the deficiency notice.  Notice may 
be by personal delivery or certified or registered mail.

 a.  In reviewing and adjusting tax returns, the tax administrator shall offset any amount received in excess of the 
remittances due against any shortages in remittances.

 b.  Except in the case of fraud or intent to evade the TLT, notice of deficiency determinations shall be issued within 
three years of the period for which the deficiency determination is made.

 c.  The time to remit deficient payment amounts under this section shall be extended if the local tax trustee timely 
requests a redetermination.

B. Fraud–Refusal to Collect–Evasion.  If any transient lodging tax collector fails to collect, report or remit the tax as 
required, submits a fraudulent return, or otherwise violates or attempts to violate this chapter, the tax adminis-
trator shall estimate the tax due, and calculate the amount owing from the transient lodging tax collector for tax 
remittance, interest and penalties and provide notice to the transient lodging tax collector of the assessment.  The 
determination and notice shall be made and mailed within three years of the discovery by the tax administrator 
of the violation. The determination is due and payable upon receipt of notice and shall become final 10 business 
days after the date notice was delivered if no petition for redetermination is filed.

5 Under ORS 320.345, 5 percent is the minimum reimbursement for new or increased TLTs.  Cities can choose to increase this percentage, but 
not decrease it. 

92



10

Section 11:  REDETERMINATIONS

A. Any person affected by a deficiency determination may file a petition for redetermination with the tax administra-
tor within 10 business days of service of notice of the tax deficiency.  A determination becomes final if a petition 
for redetermination is not timely filed.

B. If a petition for redetermination is filed within the allowable period, the tax administrator shall reconsider the 
determination and grant an oral hearing if requested.  The petitioner shall be allowed at least 20 business days 
to prepare for the hearing.

C. After considering the petition and all available information, the tax administrator shall issue a redetermination 
decision and mail the decision to the petitioner.  During the redetermination process, the tax administrator may 
agree to a compromise of the amount due if there is a good faith dispute over the amount owing.

D. The decision of the tax administrator on redetermination becomes final and payment is due 10 business days 
after the decision is mailed unless the petitioner files an appeal to the city council within that time. The appeal 
shall be filed with the tax administrator.  The city council’s decision shall be final when reduced to writing and 
mailed to the petitioner and all amounts due must be paid within 10 business days of mailing of the city council 
decision.

Section 12:  COLLECTIONS

A. The city may bring legal action to collect on any amounts owed to the city under this chapter within three years 
after remittance is due to the city or within three years after any determination becomes final.

B. The city is entitled to collect reasonable attorneys’ fee in any legal action brought to collect on amount owed to 
the city under this chapter.

Section 13: LIENS

The city may record a lien in the city’s lien docket against any real property owned by a transient lodging provider 
who receives any portion of the rent from a transient lodging facility located within the city as to any delinquent 
remittances by the transient lodging provider.

Section 14:  REFUNDS

A. Refunds by City to Transient Lodging Tax Collector.  If the transient lodging tax collector remits more tax, penalty 
or interest than is due, the transient lodging tax collector may file a claim in writing stating the facts relating to 
the claim, within three years from the date of remittance.  If the claim is approved by the tax administrator, the 
excess amount shall be either refunded or credited on any amount due from the transient lodging tax collector.

B. Refunds by City to Occupant.  A transient lodging tax collector may file a claim for refund by filing a claim in 
writing within three years of payment providing the facts relating to the claim for refund.  If the tax administra-
tor determines that the tax was collected and remitted to the city and the occupant was not required to pay the 
tax or overpaid, the city shall issue a refund to the occupant.

C. Refunds by Transient Lodging Tax Collector to Occupant.  If an occupant has paid tax to a transient lodging 
tax collector but stays a total of 30 or more consecutive days in the same transient lodging facility, the transient 
lodging tax collector shall refund to the occupant any tax collected for any portion of the continuous stay.  The 
transient lodging tax collector shall account for the collection and refund to the tax administrator.  If the transient 
lodging tax collector has remitted the tax prior to the refund or credit to the occupant, the transient lodging tax 
collector shall be entitled to a corresponding refund or offset if the claim for refund is filed within three years 
from the date of collection.

D. Burden of Proof.  The person claiming the refund shall have the burden of proving the facts that establish the 
basis for the refund.

93



11

Section 15:  ADMINISTRATION 

A. Use of TLT Funds.6   Seventy percent of the revenue from the tax rate of [tax rate] shall be used for tourism promo-
tion and tourism -related facilities.  Thirty percent of the revenue of the [tax rate] shall be used for City services.7

B. Records Required from Local Tax Trustee.  Every local tax trustee shall keep records of each transaction involving 
rent and/or collection of TLT.  All records shall be retained for at least three years and six months.

C. Examination of Records – Investigations.  The tax administrator or agent may examine all records of a local tax 
trustee relating to receipt of rent and TLT and remittance of tax during normal business hours and may obtain 
copies of the records to audit returns.

D. Authority of Tax Administrator.  The tax administrator shall have the power to enforce this chapter, conduct 
audits, and to adopt rules, regulations and forms consistent with this chapter. Rules and regulations of general 
application shall be mailed to all registered transient lodging providers. The tax administrator may also issue 
written interpretations on request of a transient lodging tax collector. As to the transient lodging tax collector 
to whom the interpretation is issued, the City will act consistently with the interpretation until it is withdrawn, 
and the city shall provide 30 days’ written notice of withdrawal of an interpretation.

E. Confidential Character of Information Obtained – Disclosure Unlawful.  The city shall maintain the confidential-
ity of information provided by transient lodging tax collector.  Nothing in this subsection shall be construed to 
prevent:

 a.  The disclosure to, or the examination of records and equipment by, another city official, employee or agent for 
collection of taxes for the purpose of administering or enforcing any provisions of this chapter or collecting 
city business license fees.

 b.  Disclosure of information to the transient lodging tax collector and the transient lodging tax collector’s agents.
 c.  The disclosure of the names and addresses of any persons to whom certificates of authority have been issued.
 d.  The disclosure of general statistics regarding taxes collected or business done in the City.
 e. Disclosures required by ORS Chapter 192.
 f. Disclosures required by ORS Chapter 297.

Section 16:  APPEALS TO CITY COUNCIL 

Any person aggrieved by any decision of the tax administrator may appeal to the city council by filing a written 
appeal with the tax administrator within 10 business days of the serving or mailing of the decision being appealed.  
The city manager shall schedule the hearing on a city council agenda and provide the appellant notice of the hear-
ing at least 10 business days before the hearing.  The city council may agree to a compromise of the amount of tax 
remittance if there is a good faith dispute over the amount owing.  Any person may appeal the issuance of a rule or 
regulation issued by the tax administrator to the city council by filing a written appeal within 10 business days of 
the mailing of the notice of the regulation.

6 The example provided here assumes the city did not have a TLT prior to 2003 and therefore the entire tax is subject to the 70/30 distribu-
tion required by state law for newly imposed TLTs. ORS 320.350.  If a city has a grandfathered TLT with a different distribution ratio and the 
city would like to increase the tax rate, it may do so but the increase will trigger the 70/30 distribution required by state law.  Although not 
completely free from doubt, most local governments interpret the 70/30 distribution to only apply to the increased portion of the TLT, not the 
total revenue generated from the increased tax as a whole.  
For example, if the local government had a 5 percent grandfathered tax with 20 percent going to tourism promotion and 80 percent going to 
the general fund on or before July 1, 2003, it could continue to apply the 20/80 distribution. However, if the local government increased the tax 
to 8 percent, the 20/80 distribution would apply to the funds raised by the grandfathered 5 percent and the 70/30 distribution would apply to 
the funds raised by the 3 percent increase. Sample language for this scenario would be:

Twenty percent of the revenue from the first 5 percent shall be used for tourism promotion and 80 percent of the revenue from the first 
five percent of the tax shall go into the general fund. Seventy percent of the funds generated by the remaining three percent of the tax 
may be used for any tourism purpose consistent with state law. Thirty percent of the funds generated by the remaining 3 percent shall 
go into the general fund.

7 Cities are advised to closely track TLT funds.  The best practice is to form a “Tourism Fund” where the tax revenue is used only for tourism 
promotion and tourism-related facilities.  In this way, if the city’s compliance with ORS 320.350 is ever challenged, the city can prove the funds 
were used appropriately. If TLT funds are placed in the general fund, or combined with other tax revenue, this may be more difficult.  
Likewise, if a city transfers TLT funds to a third party—such as a chamber of commerce—the city should have an agreement with the third 
party which gives the city the ability to audit the funds to ensure compliance with the law. Please see Appendix C for recommended language 
to include. 

94



12

Section 17:  PENALTY8 

A violation of this chapter is a Class A civil infraction. Each day that a violation remains uncured is a separate 
infraction.

8 Cities may want to include a penalty section or make violations subject to the city’s general penalty, if applicable.

95



13

Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA)
TRANSIENT LODGING TAX COLLECTION INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT

 This Transient Lodging Tax Agreement [enter agreement name]  is entered into between the State of Oregon, 
acting by and through its Department of Revenue (the Department) and [enter city], under the authority of ORS 
305.620.
 In consideration of the conditions and promises hereinafter contained, it is mutually agreed by the parties 
that the Department shall supervise and administer, according to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agree-
ment, the Local Tax on transient lodging by transient lodging providers authorized under ORS 320.365 and approved 
by the voters of City.
 (1) Definitions. As used in this Agreement the following terms have the meanings ascribed to them:
 (a) “Confidential Information” means the information on Local Tax returns administered pursuant to ORS 
305.620, any information in the reports required under Sections 8 and 9 of this Agreement from which information 
about a particular Local Taxpayer is discernable from the report due to a small number of Local Taxpayers in City or 
similar factors, and any other information exchanged between the Department and City related to this Agreement, 
which is confidential under ORS 314.835.
(b) “Fees” means collectively the Administrative Services Fee, Business Fee and any additional fees described in 
Section 5 of this Agreement.
 (c) “Local Government” means a city or county that has entered into a form of this agreement with the 
Department under the authority of ORS 305.620 for the Department to collect Local Taxes authorized under ORS 
320.365.
 (d) “Local Tax” or “Local Taxes” means the Local Transient Lodging Tax imposed by City, together with 
any additional interest or penalties provided for by state statute or the Department’s rules; it does not include any 
additional penalties or fees that City may assess against its Local Taxpayers.
 (e) “Local Taxpayer” means a Transient Lodging Provider, or a Transient Lodging Intermediary, with a lodg-
ing facility located in the taxing jurisdiction of City.
 (f) “Ordinance” means the ordinance imposing a Local Tax adopted by the governing body of the City that 
is attached hereto as Exhibit B and by this reference incorporated herein.
 (g) “Taxpayer” means a Transient Lodging Provider or Transient Lodging Intermediary with a lodging 
facility located in a taxing jurisdiction which has opted to have the Department of Revenue administer their local 
transient lodging tax program throughout Oregon.
 (h) “Transient Lodging” has the meaning given in ORS 320.300(11)
 (i) “Transient Lodging Intermediary” has the meaning given in ORS 320.300(12) 
 (j) “Transient Lodging Provider” has the meaning given in ORS 320.300(13).

 (2) General Administration. The Department shall be responsible for all aspects of Local Tax administration, 
including, but not limited to, adopting administrative rules; auditing returns; assessing deficiencies and collecting 
the Local Tax and penalties and interest under applicable statutes, including but not limited to ORS 305.265, ORS 
305.220, and ORS 314.400; making refunds; holding conferences with Local Taxpayers; handling appeals to the 
Oregon Tax Court; issuing warrants for the collection of unpaid taxes; determining the minimum amount of Local 
Tax economically collectible; and taking any other action necessary to administer and collect the Local Taxes.  The 
Department has adopted rules related to the taxation of Transient Lodging under ORS chapter 320.  City understands 
and agrees that such rules will be applied in administering the Local Tax.
 (3) Level of Service. In performing its duties, the Department may in its sole discretion determine what action 
shall be taken to enforce provisions of the law and to collect the Local Tax.  In exercising its discretion, the Depart-
ment shall provide a level of services that are comparable to the level of services it provides in the administration 
of the State of Oregon transient lodging tax laws and the collection of such taxes owed to the State of Oregon.  If 
the Department deems it necessary to vary substantially from this standard, the Department shall first notify City 
of the need and obtain City’s consent.  The Department shall provide all forms necessary for implementation of the 
Local Tax, including forms for transient lodging tax returns, exemptions and refunds.
 (4) Transfer of Taxes to City. Beginning at the end of the first full quarter after execution of this Agreement, 
the Department shall remit to City the amount of Local Taxes collected in the preceding quarter less amounts with-
held to pay the Department’s Fees and other costs as described in this Agreement within 60 days of the return due 
date for the quarter. The Department shall notify City if, because of inability to move funds electronically or other-
wise through the banking system, a force majeure event described in Section 26 of this Agreement or other exigent 
circumstance, the Department is unable to transfer the Local Tax collected to City as provided in this Section. In 
that event, the Department shall provide an estimate, if possible, of when it expects to be able to transfer the Local 

96



14

Taxes collected to City. The Department may enter into an agreement with another state government agency to fulfill 
the requirements of this Section 4, provided that said government agency can comply with the requirements of this 
section.
 (5) Fees. In order to recover its costs to collect and transfer the Local Tax as provided in this Agreement the 
Department shall be paid the following three fees:
 (a) Administrative Services Fee: Pays for the establishment and maintenance of financial systems needed to 
administer and distribute Local Taxes.  The fee shall be calculated annually as a percentage of the equivalent of 60 
hours of work conducted for the Department of Revenue by the Department of Administrative Services, divided 
among the Local Governments in proportion to the number of Taxpayers in each Local Government. This fee shall 
be charged only if the Department of Administrative Services provides transfer services as described in section (4).
 (b) Business Fee: Pays for the Local Tax administration activities set forth in this Agreement.  The fee shall 
be calculated as a percentage of the Department’s Business Division annual expenses for the administration of all 
lodging taxes, with the total fee increasing in direct proportion to the number of Local Taxpayers.  The total amount 
per Local Taxpayer billed to City under the Business Fee shall not exceed 0.035 percent of the Department’s Business 
Division expenses for the administration of all lodging taxes;

 FOR EXAMPLE, in a hypothetical with the following assumptions:
  1,000 Taxpayers
  50 Local Taxpayers in the City of Mainville
  2 Local Taxpayers in the City of Middletown 
  Business Division’s Lodging Tax Expenses: $500,000 per year
  Hourly DAS rate: $99/hour  

 The fees would be calculated as follows:
  Administrative Services Fee = ($99/hour * 60 hours) / 1,000 Taxpayers = $5.94 per Local Taxpayer 
  per year
  Business Fee = $500,000 in lodging tax expenses per year * 0.035% = $175 per Local Taxpayer 
  per year
  City of Mainville: ($5.94 Administrative Services Fee + $175 Business Fee) * 50 Local Taxpayers =
  $9,047.00 in fees
  City of Middletown: ($5.76 Administrative Services Fee + $175 Business Fee) * 2 Local Taxpayers =
  $361.52  in fees

 (c) In addition to the Fees described above, the Department may withhold or otherwise recover from City 
the Department’s costs for additional services not described in this Agreement related to the Local Tax; such addi-
tional costs may include, without limitation, requests for audits from City that exceed the scope of the Department’s 
normal audit procedures, requests for research or advice from the Department or the Oregon Department of Justice 
attorneys, or specially appointed counsel, regarding the Local Tax.
 (d) If the Department determines that its costs cannot be covered by the maximum fees outlined in this 
Section 5, the Department will notify City of the amount by which the Department has determined the Fees must 
increase.  If the Department and City do not agree upon a Fee increase and related amendment to this Agreement, 
then this Agreement may be terminated by either party in accordance with Section 16 of this Agreement.
 (e) The Department may recover its costs to administer the Local Tax, per ORS 305.620(5). The above formula 
is intended to produce the Department’s best estimate of its costs to administer the Local Tax.
 (6) Withholding for Fees and Rebate. The Department may withhold from the Local Taxes collected and each 
transfer to City an amount equal to four percent (4%) of the Local Taxes collected.  In the first quarter of each calen-
dar year, the Department will reconcile the amounts withheld in the previous year with the total Fees assessed and 
provide a reconciliation in the Department’s annual report described in Section 9 of this Agreement.  If the amount 
withheld in a calendar year exceeds the amount of the Department’s Fees, the Department will rebate the balance 
of the Local Taxes withheld to City by the end of the first quarter following the year of withholding.  If the amount 
withheld does not cover the Department’s Fees for the preceding year, the amount of the shortfall will be withheld 
from subsequent transfers of Local Taxes collected until the Department’s Fees are fully paid, or in its discretion the 
Department may invoice City for the unpaid amount of the Department’s Fees.  
 (7) Recovery of Overpayments.  If the amount of Local Taxes paid to City under this Agreement exceeds the 
amount to which City is entitled, the Department may, after notifying City in writing, withhold from later payments 
due City under this Agreement such amounts, over such periods of time, as are necessary to recover the amount of 
the overpayment.

97



15

 (8) Department Quarterly Reports.  Beginning with the first full calendar quarter after the execution of this 
Agreement and continuing each calendar quarter thereafter, within sixty (60) days after the due date for quarterly 
Local Tax returns, the Department shall provide City with a report indicating the amount of Local Taxes collected, 
the Department’s Fees incurred, the amount withheld under Section 6 of this Agreement and the cumulative amount 
of delinquent Local Taxes for each lodging provider in City’s jurisdiction.  The information in this report must be 
treated as potentially revealing Confidential Information and shall be protected as described in Section 15.  City shall 
adopt procedures to prevent Confidential Information from being disclosed, except as consistent with this Agree-
ment.  The Department and City may disclose any non-confidential information from a report when required to do 
so by law, including the Oregon Public Records Law, ORS 192.311 to 192.478.
 (9) Department Annual Reports. In the first calendar quarter of each year, the Department shall provide 
a written annual report of the preceding calendar year to City showing the total amount of Local Taxes collected, 
refunds paid, the expenses of administering and collecting the Local Tax, and other pertinent information.  The report 
shall show the total amount withheld by the Department under Section 6 of this Agreement and shall show the 
Department’s Fees, charged by category.  In the report, the Department shall also make recommendations concerning 
changes in Local Tax Ordinances, procedures, policies, Local Tax administration and related matters, as the Depart-
ment deems necessary and appropriate.  The information in this report must be treated as potentially Confidential 
Information and shall be protected as described in Section 15.  City shall adopt procedures to prevent Confidential 
Information from being disclosed, except as consistent with this Agreement.  The Department and City may disclose 
any non-confidential information in the report when required to do so by law, including the Oregon Public Records 
Law, ORS 192.311 to 192.478.
 (10) City Reports.  Within sixty (60) days of the effective date of this Agreement, City shall provide the Depart-
ment with a list of zip code areas that are within its jurisdiction for purposes of imposing the Local Tax. City shall 
review all reports and reconciliations provided to it by the Department and shall promptly notify the Department 
of any perceived errors or omissions in such reports.
 (11) Records Maintenance and Access. Each party shall maintain its records relevant to this Agreement, the 
Local Taxes and Local Taxpayers for the period of time specified and in the manner required under the document 
retention and archiving requirements applicable to it that are established under ORS 192.005 to 192.170.  Upon writ-
ten request, each party may examine the records of the other party at a time and location that is convenient and 
without extra cost to the holder to the records; provided, however, any requests for records made in connection with 
litigation or other efforts to collect the Local Tax shall be immediately provided in the time and manner requested.
 (12) Ordinance and Notification of Changes. Contemporaneous with the execution of this Agreement, City 
shall provide a copy of the Ordinance to Department for incorporation into this Agreement as Exhibit B.  In order to 
insure consistency in administration of the Local Tax, each party shall notify the other of any change in applicable 
law, including changes to the Ordinance and any state or local regulations or rulings interpreting the Local Tax or 
the Ordinance, any changes in rates or changes in the City’s boundary at least ninety (90) days prior to the effective 
change, unless it is not legally possible to provide ninety (90) days’ notice or both parties mutually agree to effect 
such changes in less than ninety (90) days.  Each party shall notify the other of any change in administration of the 
Local Tax under this Agreement.  The parties shall cooperate in amending the Ordinance or in seeking any amend-
ments to ORS 320.365 or ORS 305.620 they deem necessary.
 (13) Information. The parties will cooperate in the exchange of information and making public announce-
ments to facilitate effective administration of the Local Tax and maintain consistency in public announcements and 
information.  Policy announcements, announcement of changes to the Ordinance, and all public relations related to 
the Local Tax will be handled by City.  The Department shall promptly notify City of any issue arising in the admin-
istration of the Local Tax that would require any legislative change or affect City’s policy, including any policy that 
relates to the amount of Local Tax collected.  Nothing in this section shall prohibit the Department from conducting 
its own outreach activities to increase awareness and knowledge of Local Tax obligations.
 (14) Limits and Conditions. To the extent limited by applicable provisions of Article XI of the Oregon Con-
stitution or other governing law, and within the limits of the Oregon Tort Claims Act applicable respectively to the 
Department and City, each party shall indemnify the other for damage to life or property arising from their respec-
tive duties and obligations under this Agreement, provided neither party shall be required to indemnify the other 
for any such liability arising out of a party’s own negligent or wrongful acts.

 (15) Confidentiality.  
 (a) Confidential information may be disclosed to city by the Department, at the discretion of the Department, 
only for purposes of carrying out the administration of the Local Tax. Requests for Confidential Information may 
be made by City by giving not less than ten (10) days’ notice to the Department, stating the information desired, the 

98



16

purposes of the request, and the use to be made of such information. If the compilation of the requested information 
is not reasonably feasible, the Department shall so advise City and may decline to provide the requested information.

 (b) ORS 314.840(3) requires that employees and representatives of City who receive Confidential Information 
must be advised in writing of the provisions of ORS 314.835 and 314.991(3), relating to the penalties for unlawful 
disclosure.  Prior to being given access to Confidential Information, all City employees involved in the performance 
of this Agreement must review the DOR Secrecy Clause and sign the DOR Secrecy Laws Certificate (substantially in 
the form of Exhibit A, attached hereto and by this reference incorporated herein) certifying the employee understands 
the confidentiality laws and the penalties for violating them.  Annually thereafter, (on or before a date specified by 
the Department), or upon request by the Department, such City employees must review and sign the latest versions 
of the Secrecy Clause and the Secrecy Laws Certificate.  All signed Secrecy Laws Certificates must be immediately 
emailed to the designated Department Authorized Representative (indicated below).  When the employee terminates 
employment with City, City will forward the certificate to the Department’s Authorized Representative indicating the 
employee is no longer employed by City.  A listing of every person employed by City that is authorized to request 
and receive Confidential Information identified in this Agreement must be sent by City to the following designated 
representative: 

   Andrew Trolan
   Title: Transient Lodging Tax Program Manager
  Contact Email: Andrew.Trolan@Oregon.Gov

 (c) Upon request and pursuant to the instructions of the Department, City shall return or destroy all cop-
ies of Confidential Information provided by the Department to City, and City shall certify in writing the return or 
destruction of all such Confidential Information.
 (d) The administrative rules implementing ORS 314.835 and ORS 314.840 as amended from time to time 
during the term of this Agreement, shall apply to Confidential Information under this Agreement.
 (e) City shall comply with the requirements of ORS 646A.600 to 646A.628 in the event of a breach of security 
or disclosure of confidential information.

 (16) Term. The term of this Agreement shall be from the date it is executed by all parties and until it is ter-
minated by operation of law or by either party, at its discretion upon at least ninety (90) days prior written notice.  
Prior to the termination date specified in written notice provided under this section or Section 17 below, City and 
the Department will continue to perform their respective duties and obligations of under this Agreement.  After the 
termination date, the Department will cease all collection and other activities under this Agreement, unless prior 
to the termination date the Department and City agree in writing that the Department may continue actions that 
are pending before the Oregon Tax Court or the Oregon Supreme Court, or are being collected after judgment or 
stipulation.  In addition, after the termination date the Department will continue to remit to City any Local Taxes 
received by the Department, after deduction of the Department’s actual costs, until all matters pending on the date 
of termination have been resolved or collected.  The Department shall administer the Local Tax for City beginning 
with the calendar quarter commencing after this Agreement is executed, However, if this Agreement is fully executed 
on or before the 15th day of the calendar quarter, the Department shall begin administering the Local Tax for the 
quarter in which this Agreement is executed.
 (17) Default and Remedies.  A party shall be in default under this Agreement if it fails to perform any of its 
duties and obligations under this Agreement, and fails to cure such nonperformance within ninety (90) days after 
the other party provides written notice specifying the nature of the nonperformance.  If the nonperforming party 
does not cure its nonperformance, or provide a satisfactory explanation to the other party of its performance under 
this Agreement, the other party may terminate this Agreement immediately or at a later date specified in written 
notice provided to the nonperforming party.  In addition to termination of this Agreement, in the event of default 
by a nonperforming party, the other party may pursue any remedies available in law or equity, including an action 
for specific performance.

 (18) Notices.  All notices, documents, and information shall be sent as follows:

  Oregon Department of Revenue
  Transient Lodging Tax 
  Salem, OR 97309

 (19) Amendments. The provisions of this Agreement shall not be waived, altered, modified, supplemented, 
or amended, in any manner whatsoever, except by written instrument signed by both parties.

99



17

 (20) Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding and inure to the benefit of the parties, their 
assigns, and successors.
 (21) Severability. If any provision of this Agreement shall be held invalid or unenforceable by any court of 
competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render unenforceable any other provision hereof.
 (22) Representations. Each party represents to the other that the making and performance of this Agreement: 
(a) have been duly authorized by its governing body or official, (b) does not and will not violate any provision of 
any applicable law, rule, regulation, or order of any court, regulatory commission, board or other administrative 
agency or any provision of any applicable local charter or other organizational document, and (c) do not and will 
not result in the breach of, or constitute a default or require any consent under any other agreement or instrument 
to which the party is bound.
 (23) Governing Law, Consent to Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accor-
dance with the laws of the State of Oregon without regard to principles of conflicts of law.  Any claim, action, suit or 
proceeding (collectively “Claim”) between the Department and City regarding the enforcement or interpretation of 
this Agreement shall be brought and conducted solely and exclusively within the Circuit Court of Marion County for 
the State of Oregon.  The parties understand and agree that any action brought to determine the amount of Local Tax 
owed by a Local Taxpayer, whether brought solely by the Department or in conjunction with City shall be brought 
solely in the Oregon Tax Court.
 (24) Nonappropriation. The obligation of each party to perform its duties under this Agreement is conditioned 
upon the party receiving funding, appropriations, limitation, allotment, or other expenditure authority sufficient to 
allow the party, in the exercise of its reasonable administrative discretion, to meet its obligations under this Agree-
ment.  Nothing in this Agreement may be construed as permitting any violation of Article XI, sections 7 or 10 of the 
Oregon Constitution or any other law limiting the activities, liabilities or monetary obligations of each party.
 (25) Survival. All rights and obligations of the parties under this Agreement will cease upon termination 
of the Agreement, other than the rights and obligations arising under Sections 14, 16 and 17, and those rights and 
obligations that by their express terms survive termination of this Agreement; provided, however, that termination 
of this Agreement will not prejudice any rights or obligations accruing to a party prior to termination.
 (26) Force Majeure. Neither party is responsible for any failure to perform or any delay in performance of 
an obligation under this Agreement caused by fire, civil unrest, labor unrest, natural causes, or war, which is beyond 
that party’s reasonable control.  Each party shall, however, make all reasonable efforts to remove or eliminate such 
cause of failure to perform or delay in performance and shall, upon the cessation of the cause, diligently pursue 
performance of its obligation under this Agreement.  
 (27) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, all of which when taken together shall 
constitute one agreement, notwithstanding that all parties are not signatories to the same counterpart.  Each copy 
of this Agreement so executed constitutes an original.
 (28) Merger. This Agreement and any exhibits constitute the entire agreement between the parties on the 
subject matter hereof.  There are no understandings, agreements or presentations, oral or written, not specified herein 
regarding this Agreement.  
 Each party represents that this Agreement, when fully executed and delivered will constitute a legal, valid 
and binding obligation of the party in accordance with its terms, and that the person signing below is the authorized 
representative of the party with full power and authority to bind his/her principal to this Agreement.

Oregon Department of Revenue City:

Name/title: Name/title:

Signature: Signature:

Date signed: Date signed:

 

100



18

EXHIBIT A

DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE

SECRECY CLAUSE

 and 

SECRECY LAWS CERTIFICATE

101



19

150-800-033 (Rev. 2-11)  1

Taxpayer information is confidential and protected by Oregon law. Only authorized persons may have 
access to taxpayer information, or to secure buildings where taxpayer information is handled. Oregon 
law requires that you sign a Secrecy Certificate before being allowed access to this confidential informa-
tion or secure areas. By signing the certificate, you certify that you understand the confidentiality laws 
and the penalties for violating them.

This applies to everyone with access to taxpayer information, including:

• Department of Revenue employees

• Employees of other government agencies

• Vendors and contractors

• Business partners

Penalties for unauthorized disclosure of state tax information

• Income tax*—Class C felony; up to $125,000 fine; up to five years imprisonment; dismissal from state 
employment; no public office for five years. [ORS 314.991(2)]

• Inheritance tax—Class C felony; up to $125,000 fine; up to five years imprisonment; dismissal from 
state employment; no public office for five years. [ORS 118.990(3)]

• Industrial property tax—Up to $10,000 fine; up to one year im pris on ment. [ORS 308.990(5)]

• Timber tax—Up to $5,000 fine; dismissal from state employment. (ORS 321.686)

• Employment Department—May result in dismissal from state employment, or other discipline.                   
[ORS 657.665(6)]

*  These provisions also apply to transient lodging tax (ORS 320.330), cigarette tax (ORS 323.403), tobacco products tax (ORS 323.595), 
emergency communications tax (ORS 403.230), oil and gas production tax (ORS 324.170), hazardous substances tax (ORS 453.410), 
and petroleum products tax (ORS 465.124).

Penalties for unauthorized disclosure of federal tax information

• IRC Sect. 7213—Felony; up to $5,000 fine; imprisonment of up to five years; cost of prosecution, 
damages**.

• IRC Sect. 7213A—Up to $1,000 fine; imprisonment of up to one year; cost of prosecution, damages**.

** Damages may include $1,000 per act, actual damages, punitive damages, cost of legal action, attorney fees. See Section 7431.

SECRECY CLAUSE

Secrecy Clause Sample
DOR Publication—150-800-033

102



20

150-800-033 (Rev. 2-11)                                                                                                                         2 

Instructions

Please read the following laws. They explain the types of 
information that are confidential. If you have questions 
during your employment or performance of duties, ask 
your supervisor or a Disclosure officer before accessing or 
disclosing information.

After reading this information, fill out the last page and re-
turn it to the Department of Revenue. Keep the other pages 
for your records.

Oregon Income Tax Laws

ORS 314.835

(1) Except as otherwise specifically provided in rules ad-
opted under ORS 305.193 or in other law, it shall be unlawful 
for the Department of Revenue or any officer or employee of 
the department to divulge or make known in any manner the 
amount of income, expense, deduction, exclusion or credit or 
any particulars set forth or disclosed in any report or return 
required in the administration of ORS 310.630 to 310.706, 
required in the administration of any local tax pursuant to 
ORS 305.620, or required under a law imposing a tax upon or 
measured by net income. It shall be unlawful for any person 
or entity to whom information is disclosed or given by the 
department pursuant to ORS 314.840 (2) or any other provi-
sion of state law to divulge or use such information for any 
purpose other than that specified in the provisions of law 
authorizing the use or disclosure. No subpoena or judicial 
order shall be issued compelling the department or any of its 
officers or employees, or any person who has acquired infor-
mation pursuant to ORS 314.840 (2) or any other provision of 
state law to divulge or make known the amount of income, 
expense, deduction, exclusion or credit or any particulars set 
forth or disclosed in any report or return except where the 
taxpayer’s liability for income tax is to be adjudicated by the 
court from which such process issues.

(2) As used in this section:

 (a) “Officer,” “employee” or “person” includes an autho-
rized representative of the officer, employee or person, or 
any former officer, employee or person, or an authorized 
representative of such former officer, employee or person.

 (b) “Particulars” includes, but is not limited to, a tax-
payer’s name, address, telephone number, Social Secu-
rity number, employer identification number or other 
taxpayer identification number and the amount of refund 
claimed by or granted to a taxpayer.

ORS 314.991

(2) Violation of ORS 314.835 is a Class C felony. If the of fend er 
is an officer or employee of the state the offender shall be 
dis missed from office and shall be in ca pa ble of hold ing any 
public office in this state for a period of five years there af ter.

Applicability to other tax programs

The above provisions of ORS 314, concerning the confiden-
tiality of returns and penalties, also apply to:

• Transient lodging tax ORS 320.330

• Cigarette tax ORS 323.403 

• Tobacco products tax ORS 323.595  

• Emergency communications tax ORS 403.230

• Oil and gas production tax  ORS 324.170

• Hazardous substances tax  ORS 453.410

• Petroleum products tax  ORS 465.124

Oregon Inheritance Tax Laws

ORS 118.525

(1) It shall be unlawful for the Department of Revenue or 
any of its officers or employees to divulge or make known 
in any manner any particulars disclosed in any return or 
supporting data required under this chapter. Except for 
executors or beneficiaries and their authorized representa-
tives, it shall be unlawful for any person or entity who has 
acquired information pursuant to subsections (3) and (4) 
of this section to divulge or make known such information 
for any purpose other than that specified in the provisions 
of law authorizing the use or disclosure. No subpoena or 
judicial order shall be issued compelling the department, 
or its officers or employees, or persons described in subsec-
tions (3) and (4) of this section, to divulge or make known 
any particulars disclosed in any such return or supporting 
data except where the liability for inheritance taxes is to be 
adjudicated by the Oregon Tax Court. Nothing in this sec-
tion shall prohibit the publication of statistics so classified 
as to prevent the identification of particulars in any return 
or supporting data covered by this section.

(2) As used in this section:

 (a) “Officer,” “employee” or “person” includes an autho-
rized representative of the officer, employee or person, 
or former officer, employee or person, or an authorized 
representative of such former officer, employee or person.

 (b) “Particulars” includes, but is not limited to, a tax-
payer’s name, address, telephone number, Social Security 
number and the amount of refund claimed by or granted 
to a taxpayer.

ORS 118.990

(3) Violation of ORS 118.525 is a Class C felony. If the offend-
er is an officer or employee of the state the offender shall be 
dismissed from office and shall be incapable of holding any 
public office in this state for a period of five years thereafter.

Oregon Property Tax Laws

ORS 308.290

(11)(a) All returns filed under the provisions of this section 
and ORS 308.525 and 308.810 are confidential records of the 
Department of Revenue or the county assessor’s office in 
which the returns are filed or of the office to which the re-
turns are forwarded under paragraph (b) of this subsection.

103



21

150-800-033 (Rev. 2-11)                                                                                                                          3

ORS 308.413

(1) Any information furnished to the county assessor or to 
the Department of Revenue under ORS 308.411 which is 
obtained upon the condition that it be kept confidential shall 
be confidential records of the office in which the information 
is kept, except as follows:

 (a) All information furnished to the county assessor shall be 
available to the department and all information furnished 
to the department shall be available to the county assessor.

 (b) All information furnished to the county assessor or 
department shall be available to any reviewing authority 
in any subsequent appeal.

 (c) The department may publish statistics based on the 
information furnished if the statistics are so classified as to 
prevent the identification of the particular industrial plant.

(2) The Department of Revenue shall make rules governing 
the confidentiality of information under this section.

(3) Each officer or employee of the Department of Revenue 
or the office of the county assessor to whom disclosure or ac-
cess of the information made confidential under subsection 
(1) of this section is given, prior to beginning employment 
or the performance of duties involving such disclosure, shall 
be advised in writing of the provisions of this section and 
ORS 308.990 (5) relating to penalties for the violation of this 
section, and shall as a condition of employment or perfor-
mance of duties execute a certificate for the department or 
the assessor in a form prescribed by the department, stating 
in substance that the person has read this section and ORS 
308.990 (5), that these sections have been explained to the 
person and that the person is aware of the penalties for vio-
lation of this section. 

ORS 308.990

(5) Subject to ORS 153.022, any willful violation of ORS 
308.413 or of any rules adopted under ORS 308.413 is pun-
ishable, upon conviction, by a fine not exceeding $10,000, 
or by imprisonment in the county jail for not more than one 
year, or by both.

Forestland Tax Laws

ORS 321.682

(1) Except as otherwise specifically provided by law, it shall 
be unlawful for the Department of Revenue or any officer 
or employee of the department to divulge or make known 
in any manner the amount of the tax or any particulars set 
forth or disclosed in any report or return required to be filed 
under ORS 321.045 or 321.741 or any appraisal data collected 
to make determinations of specially assessed value of forest-
land pursuant to ORS 321.201 to 321.222. It shall be unlawful 
for any person or entity to whom information is disclosed or 
given by the department pursuant to ORS 321.684 (2) or any 
other provision of state law to divulge or use such informa-
tion for any purpose other than that specified in the provi-
sions of law authorizing the use or disclosure. No subpoena 

or judicial order shall be issued compelling the department 
or any of its officers or employees, or any person who has 
acquired information pursuant to ORS 321.684 (2) or any 
other provision of state law, to divulge or make known the 
amount of tax or any particulars set forth or disclosed in 
any report or return except where the taxpayer’s liability 
for timber tax is to be adjudicated by the court from which 
such process issues.

(2) As used in this section, “officer,” “employee” or “per-
son” includes an authorized representative of the officer, 
employee or person, or any former officer, employee or per-
son, or an authorized representative of such former officer, 
employee or person.

ORS 321.686

Violation of ORS 321.682 is subject to a fine not exceeding 
$5,000 or, if committed by an officer or employee of the state, 
dismissal or removal from office or employment, or both 
fine and dismissal or removal from office or employment.

Oregon Employment Department Laws

ORS 657.665

(4)The Employment Department may: ... (i) Disclose in-
formation to the Department of Revenue for the purpose 
of performing its duties under ORS 293.250 or under the 
revenue and tax laws of this state. The information disclosed 
may include the names and addresses of employers and 
employees and payroll data of employers and employees. 
The information disclosed is confidential and may not be 
disclosed by the Department of Revenue in any manner that 
would identify an employing unit or employee except to the 
extent necessary to carry out the department’s duties under 
ORS 293.250 or in auditing or reviewing any report or return 
required or permitted to be filed under the revenue and tax 
laws administered by the department. The Department of 
Revenue may not disclose any information received to any 
private collection agency or for any other purpose. If the 
information disclosed under this paragraph is not prepared 
for the use of the Employment Department, the costs of 
disclosing the information shall be paid by the Department 
of Revenue.

(6) Any person or any officer or employee of an entity to 
whom information is disclosed by the Employment De-
partment under this section who divulges or uses the in-
formation for any purpose other than that specified in the 
provision of law or agreement authorizing the use or disclo-
sure may be disqualified from performing any service under 
contract or disqualified from holding any appointment or 
employment with the state agency that engaged or em-
ployed that person, officer or employee. The Employment 
Department may immediately cancel or modify any infor-
mation sharing agreement with an entity when a person or 
an officer or employee of that entity discloses confidential 
information, other than as specified in law or agreement.

104



22

150-800-033 (Rev. 2-11)                                               4 

SECRECY LAWS CERTIFICATE

Required by ORS 314.840(3), ORS 118.525(6), 
ORS 308.413(3), ORS 321.684

I have read the laws prohibiting disclosure of confidential information for the tax programs below. 
The laws have been explained to me. 
I have been furnished with a copy of the laws. 
I un der stand Oregon's disclosure laws and the penalties for violating them.

Income tax ORS 314.835; ORS 314.991(2) 
Inheritance tax ORS 118.525(1); ORS 118.990(3)
Industrial property tax ORS 308.290(11); ORS 308.413; ORS 308.990(5)
Forestland tax ORS 321.682; ORS 321.686
Employment Department tax ORS 657.665(4)(i) and (6)
Transient lodging tax  ORS 320.330
Cigarette tax  ORS 323.403
Tobacco products tax  ORS 323.595
Emergency communications tax  ORS 403.230
Oil and gas production tax    ORS 324.170
Hazardous substances tax    ORS 453.410
Petroleum products tax    ORS 465.124
Federal tax laws    IRC Sections 7213, 7213A, 7431

REVENUE EMPLOYEES
PRINT your full name

X

Signature

Date

VENDORS, CONTRACTORS, BUSINESS PARTNERS
PRINT your full name Business telephone number

Print full name of business or or ga ni za tion for which you are acting in an official capacity

Address of business or organization SSN (Collection agency employees only)

What is the nature of your business? Duration of contract or visit

Revenue contact Area where you'll be working

X

Signature Date

AGENCY USE

In Compliance Not in Compliance

105



23

Resources
DOR Transient Lodging Tax Program website:
 www.oregon.gov/dor/programs/businesses/pages/lodging.aspx 

Oregon Revised Statutes—Transient Lodging Taxes website:
 oregon.public.law/statutes/ors_320.300 

Oregon Administrative Rules—State Lodging Tax website:
 oregon.public.law/rules/oar_150-320-0040 

League of Oregon Cities website—Legal Guide to Collecting Transient Lodging Tax in Oregon 
(Search “Reference library” by keyword):  
 www.orcities.org/resources/reference/reference-library

Travel Oregon Website—Travel Oregon Local Transient Lodging Tax: Expenditures and Administration Report
 www.industry.traveloregon.com/resources/research/local-transient-lodging-tax-expenditures-and-administration-
report

106


	City Council Work Session Agenda
	2018-8735 - City Manager's Report 
	2018-8489 - Newport Oceanview Drive Assessment Memo.pdf
	2018-8489 - City Council Presentation by Kittelson.pdf
	2018-8069 - LLX Administration.pdf
	2018-8069 - Local Lodging Administration User Guide.pdf

